

UNIVERSITY COLLEGE LONDON

FACULTY OF THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT

BARTLETT SCHOOL OF PLANNING

"Appraisal of Mass Rapid Transit system options for Milton Keynes using a fully participatory Multi-Actor Multi-Criteria Analysis"

Viktorija Jersova MSc Student number: 18162846

Being a dissertation submitted to the faculty of The Built Environment as part of the requirements for the award of the MSc in Transport and City Planning at University College London: I declare that this dissertation is entirely my own work and that ideas, data and images, as well as direct quotations, drawn from elsewhere are identified and referenced.

8 September 2020

Word count (main body): 10,947 Word count (appendices, excluding risk assessment form): 3,694

Acknowledgements

Thank you to my Luton colleagues, Sarah Barker, Alex Constantinides, Laura Church, Keith Dove and Chris Godden, for giving me a head start in my transport career and supporting me throughout this course. I am grateful for all the advice given when I struggled with my first assignments on this course. I am incredibly proud of the results that I have achieved by the end of this programme and I want to thank everyone who supported me throughout this journey.

I want to thank my colleagues at Milton Keynes Council, Steve Hayes and James Povey, for giving me the opportunity to continue my education in my new role as well as for the opportunity to use Milton Keynes as my research topic.

I am grateful to my personal tutor, Dr Robin Hickman, for a great introduction to transport and planning, for teaching me to think about transport projects critically, as well sharing great ideas for my dissertation. I would like to thank Tim Pharoah for his support and keeping me on track throughout this project. I could not have asked for a more knowledgeable and supportive supervisor.

And last, but not least, I thank all external colleagues and stakeholders for taking part in the focus group workshops and being accessible and flexible during the pandemic and making the practical exercise of this work possible.

Table of Contents

Ackn	owledgements	2
List o	f tables	6
List o	f abbreviations	7
Abstr	act	9
1.	Introduction	. 10
1.1.	Overview of Milton Keynes	. 11
1.2.	Specifics of Milton Keynes: planning history and transport system	. 13
1.3.	Socio-spatial segregation	. 16
1.4.	SWOT analysis	. 17
1.5.	Previous MRT studies:	. 18
1.6.	Summary of findings	. 22
2.	Research aim	. 23
2.1.	Research questions	. 24
2.2.	Research objectives	. 25
2.3.	Research methods	. 26
3.	Literature review	. 27
3.1.	Appraisal methods: from CBA to MCA	. 27
3.2.	Participatory MCA	. 30
3.3.	Defining Criteria for MCA: What makes public transport good?	. 34
3.4.	Additional data gathering	. 37
3.5.	Key findings	. 39
4.	Methodology explained: MAMCA with a twist	. 41
4.2.	Process explained	. 42
5.	Research ethics	. 45
6.	Analysis of data	. 46
6.1.	Stakeholder analysis	. 46
6.2.	Options chosen per group	. 47
6.3.	Objectives: weights allocation per group	. 47
6.4.	Sub-objectives: weights allocation per group	. 49
6.5.	Final results	. 52
6.6.	Key findings:	. 54
7.	Discussion	. 56
8.	Reflective conclusions	. 59
9.	References	. 62
10.	Appendix	. 80
10.1.	Appendix A: Workshop: Briefing	. 80

10.2.	Appendix B: Stakeholder analysis	84
10.3.	Appendix B – Detailed analysis of each of the workshops	86
11.	Risk assessment form	11

List of figures:

Figure 1 How the MRT network could look in the city Centre (MK Futures, 2050)	10
Figure 2 Regional position of MK (England's Economic Heartland, 2019)	11
Figure 3 Sustainability Strategy: objectives (MKC, 2019)	12
Figure 4 Garden city by E. Howard (Architecture Journal, 2017)	13
Figure 5 Planned vs Actual Layout of Milton Keynes (Edwards, 2011)	14
Figure 6 Planned vs Actual Road Designs (Edwards, 2011)	14
Figure 7 Top 15 travel destinations (MKC, 2019)	15
Figure 8 Bus route network (MKC, 2019)	15
Figure 9 Areas of multiple deprivation in Milton Keynes, Census (2011)	16
Figure 10 Recommended Spatial Strategy (MKC, 2019)	17
Figure 11 SWOT Analysis (Author's own)	18
Figure 12 Proposed 2050 Rapid Transit Network (ITP, 2019)	19
Figure 13 Future Transport schemes (TIDP, 2019)	21
Figure 14 Historical development of transport and infrastructure appraisal practice (Dea	ın,
2018)	27
Figure 15 Example of performance table for one option (Dean, 2018)	29
Figure 16 Relationships between appraisals (Dean, 2018)	30
Figure 17 Level of participation within MCA (Dean, 2018)	31
Figure 18 Arnstein's ladder of citizen participation (Cullingworth ,1999)	31
Figure 19 Methodology for MAMCA (Macharis, 2004)	32
Figure 20 Multi Criteria Mapping (Stirling, 1998)	33
Figure 21 Levels of residual uncertainty (Hickman, 2014)	35
Figure 22 Predictability and uncertainty (Van der Heijden, 1996)	36
Figure 23 Backcasting study approach (Hickman, 2014)	36
Figure 24 LinkedIn Survey (Author's own)	37
Figure 25 High-frequency transfer-base system (Walker, 2012)	38
Figure 26 Light rail and Tram statistics (DfT, 2018)	39
Figure 28 Fully Participatory MCA process (Author's own)	41
Figure 29 MK2050 Future Transport Scenario/Vision	43

List of tables

Table 1 Modal split in Milton Keynes	16
Table 2 Economic appraisal Benefit Cost Ratio (ITP, 2019)	20
Table 3 Appraisal Methods employed by previous MRT Studies (Author's own interpreta	ation)
	23
Table 4 Research methods employed, and types of data used	26

List of abbreviations

AHP	Analytic Hierarchy Process
AQPS	Advanced Quality Partnership Scheme
AV	Autonomous Vehicle
BRT	Bus Rapid Transit
BRT-L	Bus Rapid Transit Light
BUG	Bus User Group
CBA	Cost Benefit Analysis
CBD	Central Business District
CIL	Centre for Integrated Learning
DfT	Department for Transport
DLR	Docklands Light Railway
e-AV	Electric Autonomous Vehicle
EcIA	Economic Impact Assessment
EIA	Environmental Impact Assessment
EVEC	Electric Vehicle Experience Centre
GHG	Green House Gases
LRT	Light Rail Transit
MAMCA	Multi Actor Multi Criteria Analysis
MCA	Multi Criteria Analysis
MCAF	Multi Criteria Appraisal Framework
MCDA	Multi Criteria Decision Analysis
MCDM	Multi Criteria Decision Framework
MK	Milton Keynes
MKC	Milton Keynes Council
MKDC	Milton Keynes Development Corporation
MRT	Mass Rapid Transit
Non- LRT	Non Light Rail Transit
Non- MRT	Non Mass Rapid Transit
PROMETHEE	Preference Ranking Organisation MeTHod for Enrichment Evaluations
RTV	Rubber Tyre Vehicle
SEA	Strategic Environmental Assessment
SIA	Social Impact Assessment
SLOAP	Space Left Over After Planning

SWOT	Strengths Weaknesses	s Opportunities	Threats (Analysis)
------	----------------------	-----------------	--------------------

- TIDP Transport Infrastructure Delivery Plan
- TOD Transit Oriented Development

Tram-L Tram Light

Abstract

Decision making in transport projects frequently leads to extensive discussions, controversy and disagreements. Major projects in particular are the subject of scrutiny by multiple stakeholders. Milton Keynes committed to be carbon neutral by 2050 and seeks to deliver a Mass Rapid Transit system to accommodate growth and achieve ambitious environmental targets. This work examines previous studies conducted by the authority including the effectiveness of the project appraisal techniques used. It seeks to understand if a participatory Multi-Criteria Analysis (MCA) is a better approach to appraise such transport projects. The study examines the importance of incorporating scenario planning as well as local policies and objectives in the appraisal process. It seeks to understand what the balance between the capital cost of the system in comparison to social and environmental objectives should be in the MCA. The study shows that a fully participatory MCA method, developed by combining Multi-Actor Multi-Criteria Analysis (Macharis, 2012) and Multi-Criteria Mapping (Stirling, 1998) and giving maximum power to the stakeholders, is not only a robust method for understanding attitudes towards different options, but also an efficient way to address local challenges.

1. Introduction

Rapid growth, urbanisation and climate change have urged many local authorities to review their functions, including how they plan future growth and transport. Milton Keynes Council (MKC) has responded to the climate change emergency by committing to be zero carbon by 2030 and carbon negative by 2050 (MKC, 2019). Additionally, as part of the new housing deal, MKC has determined that its population will double by 2050 to accommodate 500,000 residents and a Mass Rapid Transit (MRT) system is planned to support this growth in a sustainable way (MKC, 2019).

Mass Rapid Transit can be defined as...

"...a passenger transportation service, usually local in scope, that is available to any person who pays a prescribed fare. It usually operates on specific fixed tracks or with separated and exclusive use of potential common track, according to established schedules along designated routes or lines with specific stops, although Bus Rapid Transit and trams sometimes operate in mixed traffic. It is designed to move large numbers of people at one time. Examples include Bus Rapid Transit, heavy rail transit, and light rail transit" (Wright and Fjellstrom, 2003)

Figure 1 How the MRT network could look in the city Centre (MK Futures, 2050)



At present, a clear action plan has not been agreed and this study aims to bring some clarity as to the next steps in terms of bringing this project forward. Originally, this study was going to review in detail different MRT systems in line with latest transport planning guidance and best practice examples and recommend the most suitable system. However, research shows that appraisal methods for transport studies, including those used in previous studies by MKC, have significant gaps and lack consistency. Hence the study changed its focus into investigating appraisal methodologies with a view to understand if participatory Multi-Criteria Analysis approach is more advanced than Cost Benefit Analysis and is more suitable for project appraisals like Milton Keynes' MRT.

1.1. Overview of Milton Keynes

Milton Keynes is a new town in Buckinghamshire located approximately mid-way between London and Birmingham, sitting mid-way on the 'Oxford Cambridge arc' an area of significant economic development (Figure 2).



Figure 2 Regional position of MK (England's Economic Heartland, 2019)

MKC political environment:

The outcome of the Local Government Elections in May 2019 resulted in no party having overall control in MK. A joint manifesto was signed between the Liberal Democrat Group and the Labour Group ensuring clear leadership for the town and delivering the best outcomes for the residents of Milton Keynes. It provides a set of clear priorities, aims and objectives setting the policy framework of MKC:

 Action on climate change and sustainability – making MK the greenest and most sustainable city in the world, implementing the Sustainability Strategy and introducing an action plan to meet the intention to become carbon neutral by 2030 and a postcarbon city by 2050.

- Sustainable transport supporting and encouraging innovative transport services with a focus on improving public transport.
- Growth and economic prosperity– supporting the aspiration that MK should grow to a population of 500,000 and beyond by 2050 with a thriving, robust and resilient economy that creates high-skilled jobs.

Sustainability Strategy (Figure 3) This strategy pledges MK to "strive to be carbon neutral by 2030 and carbon negative by 2050 while creating one of the world's most truly sustainable economies and models for growth".





Only a small percentage of this reduction comes from transport (MKC, 2019). As per latest DfT data, transport emissions were cut by only 3% nationally (DfT, 2020). This means that any future transport solution in MK has to be ambitious and robust to meet the strategic environmental objectives of MKC.

1.2. Specifics of Milton Keynes: planning history and transport system

Milton Keynes was conceived as a New Town in 1967, when the Development Corporation (MKDC), was created to develop the farmland, villages and rail towns into a modern city as part of the government's solution to a housing crisis (Heritage MK, 2017). MK was created under Ebenezer Howard's vision of "garden cities" (Rydin, 1993). Rich on green and blue infrastructure, MK was an experiment for modernistic and innovative urban settlement. Inspired by an American urbanist Melvin Webber, the *Figure 4 Garden city by E. Howard*

town was designed as a poly-centric "post-industrial" car heaven with high-speed grid roads (Bendixson and Platt, 1992). MK's unusual and modern style of housing, inspired by Le Corbusier severely contradicts self-containment sought by the Garden Cities Movement (Alexander, 2009), yet it works as the town is loved by the residents and has attracted international interest for decades (Barkman, 2016).



The Master Plan spaced grid roads at 1000m to allow freedom and ease of movement by multiple travel

modes – car, walking, cycling and public transport (Edwards, 2001). Furthermore, as per Figure 5 (below, left), the original activity centres were planned adjacent to the grid roads. In reality, most of the housing and activity is located in the centre of each grid road, leaving space by the road empty and unused.

Housing densities are reasonably low, there are extensive public open spaces, and employment and retail uses are decentralised across the city (Jeffery, 2012). Local shopping and service centres were pushed away from the centre too, making them difficult to be seen from the main road. Originally planned mixed developments including high density flats were scrapped giving space to more luxurious lower density housing off-grid roads (Figure 5, right).

Figure 5 Planned vs Actual Layout of Milton Keynes (Edwards, 2011)



The original plan for Milton Keynes was to have a 30, not 70 mph speed on the road which was quickly scrapped by the Corporation. Traffic lights were replaced by roundabouts and only a few turnings would be permitted as seen below (Figure 6):

Figure 6 Planned vs Actual Road Designs (Edwards, 2011)



This made it unsafe for cars and buses to stop on the side of the main road. Land reservations by sides of the road were widened to fit the acceleration and deceleration lanes on roads that became much noisier, meaning that additional planting was required to reduce it. Local shopping and service centres were pushed away from the centre too, making them difficult to be seen from the main road. To date, the town's travel pattens prove that it is still a polycentric city (Figure 7), while the bus network is monocentric (Figure 8).

Figure 7 Top 15 travel destinations (MKC, 2019)



Figure 8 Bus route network (MKC, 2019)



There was a plan to prioritise public transport through a fourloop monorail connecting living areas as beads on strings with a central work and service zone it was withdrawn with a view to developing MRT system in the future (Edwards, 2001). Today, only 6% use public transport in MK to get to work and the car remains the made mode (Table 1).

Table 1	Modal	split in	Milton	Keynes	(MKC,	2019)
---------	-------	----------	--------	--------	-------	-------

lournov	Car / Other Modes (%)				
Journey	2011 (Actual)	2030 (Target)	2050 (Target)		
Milton Keynes	65 / 35	60 / 40	50 / 50		
Intra-borough	80 / 20	70 / 30	55 / 45		
Inter-borough	85 /15	80 / 20	60 / 40		

Source: Strategy for First Last Mile Travel

1.3. Socio-spatial segregation

MK has a noticeable difference in the distribution of resources across the town - older estates show significantly higher lever of multiple deprivation (Figure 9) which echo the location of the "crescent" - first stage of town planning. Most notably, the borders between deprived and non-

deprived areas are sharp and align well with the road network. This suggests that grid-roads act as a spatial and therefore, social separator. Today the town still has the green areas along the main roads referred to as SLOAP (space left over after planning) by Pritchard (2000) which further adds to physical barrier between the estates. Notably, areas where multiple deprivation is the highest have the lowest car ownership and the highest usage of public transport (Census, 2011). Sociospatial segregation is likely to worsen as future growth areas are on the outskirts of Keynes, Census (2011)



Figure 9 Areas of multiple deprivation in Milton

MK as per Figure 10 while public transport struggles to stay commercially viable and inner city continues to become more deprived. Future growth certainly represents funding opportunities for MRT, the new transport system should aim to reduce transport inequality across the borough and to minimise socio-spatial segregation, not add to it.

Figure 10 Recommended Spatial Strategy (MKC, 2019)



1.4. SWOT analysis

A policy-Led approach is well-known in project appraisal practice (OMEGA Centre, 2010; Dimitriou et al., 2016; Ward et al., 2016). Some have used SWOT analysis to provide more depth to the issue examined and assist with the appraisal exercise (Wickramasinghe and Takano, 2009; Groselj, et al. 2016). Further to the policy review presented in the introduction, a SWOT analysis was conducted in order to review local, regional and national policies in more depth (Figure 11).

Figure 11 SWOT Analysis (Author's own)

Str	engths	Weaknesses
•	Strong political will to address climate change issues, including transport Commitment to be carbon neutral by 2030 MK Futures 2050 work and evidence on the need to deliver MRT and address transport inequality Wide roads, lots of space for Public Transport (PT) priority Good provision of infrastructure for PT – 6 stations, 2 Bus hubs Good railway links to London and Birmingham Good location, economic hub that attracts visitors Space for flexible development of MK and continuous growth Centre for technology and transport innovation	 Extremely high car usage, car dependency, ample parking (city for cars) High car parking standards in new developments Limited PT provision, short operating times, low frequencies Low bus usage and declining user satisfaction Unreliable bus service, long travel times, indirect routes Lack or integration between transport modes, especially at the key transport hubs Due to low densities, many routes are not commercially viable, high subsidies are required to run services Outdated infrastructure – bus priority lanes and bus shelters Limited availability of PT in some areas of the borough and transport inequality + social injustice
Op	portunities	Threats
• • • • • •	Growth & Mass Rapid Transit &East West Rail Regeneration of older estates present new opportunities to improve PT Income from future and planned developments Upgrade train stations and interchanges Integration between PT modes - community transport, Demand Responsive Transport (DRT) and taxis Manage PT schemes better, better use of finances from parking revenue to support Better facilities for PT Car parking restrictions, demand management and P&Rs	 Failure to manage car traffic can result in more congestion, further decline in PT, risk to lose more commercial routes Economic climate post Covid-19 Low quality service is discouraging PT use and pushing more people to buy cars New developments will generate more traffic due to high car parking standards, location of the new housing and the layout of the town Good Demand Responsive Transport and taxi service can further weaken infrequent and indirect bus routes Unrealistic targets (MRT, Zero Carbon) vs limited resources and lack of proactivity to deliver major changes in public transport

Based on the SWOT analysis it is evident that MK has strong environmental targets but no clear action plan. Furthermore, dependency on the car and poor public transport service undermines these ambitions.

1.5. Previous MRT studies:

As a New Town, MK is known for being innovative and forward thinking. Several transport studies have explored possible MRT options:

- Study 1: Mass Rapid Transit Study (2019), conducted as part of MK Futures 2050 strategy (2020) by ITP (consultancy)
- Study 2: MKC Transport Infrastructure Development Plan (2019) by WSP (consultancy) as part of/in addition to the Local Transport Plan 4/ Mobility Strategy (2018)
- Study 3 Public Transport Long-Term Vision (2003) Faber Maunsell (consultancy)

Summary of previous studies is presented below.

Study 1 – ITP (2019)

This study appraised two MRT options: Light Rail Transit and Bus Rapid Transit (BRT). The study assumes that routes for both systems would be the same (Figure 12)

Figure 12 Proposed 2050 Rapid Transit Network (ITP, 2019)



A Cost Benefit Analysis (CBA) was undertaken. The methodology used for determining Value for Money was the **Department for Transport Web Transport Analysis G**uidance (Web TAG). The marginal external benefits reviewed were reductions in congestion, infrastructure, accidents, noise and greenhouse gas emissions, and improved local air quality. It has been assumed that both systems have the same benefits, the same ability to encourage modal shift and the same user satisfaction.

However, the cost of constructing a tram network was estimated to be four times higher than BRT. A tram option for the whole network returns Benefit Cost Ratios of 'poor' to 'low' value for money while a BRT option presents 'high' to 'very high' value for money. The key determinant in both cases was the scale of construction and operational costs relative to the potential patronage, and therefore revenues, that could be generated (as per Table 2).

	Scenario 1		Scenario 2		Scenario 3	
Interventions	RTV	Tram	RTV	Tram	RTV	Tram
Marginal External Benefits (cost benefits) (£m)	£3.4	£3.4	£2.7	£2.7	£3.4	£3.4
Health benefits (cost benefits) (£m)	£1.4	£1.4	£1.5	£1.5	£1.4	£1.4
Cost (including maintenance) (£m)	£1.1	£4.4	£1.1	£4.4	£1.6	£6.6
BCR	4.43	1.10	3.77	0.94	2.95	0.73

Table 2 Economic appraisal Benefit Cost Ratio (ITP, 2019)

Study 2 (WSP, 2019)

The study reviewed a total of 103 transport schemes, including 16 public transport schemes which covered four MRT/Non-MRT options. The schemes were appraised using a bespoke Multi Criteria Appraisal Framework (MCAF). Additional criteria covered a number of objectives including environmental, economic, social, management and deliverability. Two workshops were held where engagement with stakeholders took place: the participants scored public transport options as Low-, Medium-, and High-Priority. As a result, measures like Park and Ride sites, bus priority corridors and improvements to bus infrastructure scored higher than MRT systems. Out of the MRT options offered, BRT and Light-Rail scored the highest, followed by a MK Micro-Metro and Autonomous people movers (Figure 13).

Figure 13 Future Transport schemes (TIDP, 2019)

CONCEPT TYPE	
ONCEPT NAME	
5. Milton Keynes Micro-Metro	
TIAL OPTION SKETCH	
Image source: https SCRIPTION	Umrer cambridge-news.co.uk/rems/cambridge-news/cambridge-metro-really-ever-going-1422940
elementation of a micro-metro transit system that deil her driven or autonomous), along dedicated routes a doin 32) and Travel Hubs (Options 25-27). The syste ctions; distinctive stops with real-time passenger info	vers a fast and attractive, rubber-wheeled fram service cross Milton Keynes, potentially linked to Park & Ride Siles m will provide: dedicated bus lanes; bus priority at rmation; cashless payment systems and network branding.
NEFITS	DISBENEFITS
Encourages modal shift by providing access to a fast and attractive alternative mode of transport Potential to expand and support other transport infrastructure and growth areas	 Reallocation of carriageway space could constrain capacity for other modes of transport Significant investment required to facilitate the creation of the routes and development of fleet May require alterations to the cost and availability of parking in Milton Keynes to be financially viable
OGRAMME	FUNDING OPTIONS Miton Keynes Council
Long-term (10+ years)	South East Midlands Local Enterprise Partnership England's Economic Heartland Central Government Funding Bids
re contents of this document are confidential to Milton Keynes Council. All o frestructure Plan and will be subject to further investigation and consultation	ptions shown are draft for illustration purposes for the Miltan Keynes Transport which may lead to design changes
- DNCEPT TYPE	
igh-Quality Public Transport	
Milton Kovnos Lisht Bail Transit	
. Milton Keynes Light Rail Transit	
SCRPTION plementation of a high-quality Light Rail Transit (LRT)	Insge source. No 2-New Juriet and approve dary 8773260 -Brande 134 All states about system delivering a fast and attractive tram service (either
SCRIPTION Sementation of a high-quality Light Rail Transit (LRT) en or autonomous), along dedicated routes across M alon 32) and Travel Hubs (Options 25-27). The syste red traffic), travel routes (as the system of the system red traffic), travel routes (as the system) tems and network branding.	Image source. Http://www.locetic.com/age/on-dory/07/1260-decode/124.04/ stare-aducative system delivering a fast and attractive tram service (either litton Keynes, potentially linked to Park & Ride Sites m would provide: celedicated tram lines (segregated and with real-time passenger information; cashless payment
ESCRIPTION plementation of a high-quality Light Rail Transit (LRT) ven or autonomous), along dedicated routes across M plon 32) and Travel Hubs (Options 25-27). The syster stems and network branding. INFERTS	Inge some .Ng. / New local and attractive transservice (either system delivering a fast and attractive transservice (either litton Keynes, potentially linked to Park & Ride Siles n would provide: dedcated trans lines (segregated and with real-time passenger information; cashless payment DISBENEFITS • Reallocation of carriageway space could constrain
ESCRIPTION Indementation of a high-quality Light Rail Transit (LRT) (when or autonomous), along dedicated routes across M ption 32) and Travel Hubs (Options 25-27). The syste wide Yaffic): If an priority at junctions; distinctive stops stems and network branding. ENERTS Encourages modal shift by providing access to a fast and attractive alternative mode of transport prioration courses and attractive alternative to their transport infrastructure and growth areas	Inspiration Republication and a strategies and a strategies and a strategies of the strategies and a strategies of the strategies and a strategies of the strategies and a strat

Miton Keynes Council
 South East Mitlands Local Enterprise Partnership
 England's Economic Heartland
 Central Government Funding Bids

The costents of this document are confidential to Mitton Keynes Council. All options shown are draft for illustration purposes for the Mitton Keynes Tr Infrastructure Plan and will be subject to further investigation and consultation which may lead to design changes.

Long term (10+ years)



Milton Keynes Transport Infrastructure Plan – Option Proformas



ESCRIPTION

1150

Trial and introduce micro-autonomous people movers for short local trips. The transit vehicles can be personal, or shared. Example journeys that could be undertaken using autonomous people movers include: movements between shopping centres in Central Million Keynes; movements between tkey employment centres and travel hubs (Milton Keynes Central Railway Station); movements between central Milton Keynes and key trip attractors such as the Milton Keynes University Hospital, Stadum MK and Bletchley.

BENEFITS	DISBENEFITS
 Encourages modal shift by providing access to a fast and attractive alternative mode of transport Potential to expand and support other transport infrastructure and growth areas 	 Potential safety risks associated with autonomous vehicles in urban areas Requires technological infrastructure to ensure vehicles are connected
PROGRAMME	FUNDING OPTIONS
Medium-term (5-10 years)	Milton Keynes Council South East Midlands Local Enterprise Partnership Central Government Funding Bids Scheme Operators

The study did not look at the MRT options in depth and stakeholders were involved only for a single stage of appraisal: for scoring, where a single-dimension criteria was used (priority).

Study 3 (Faber Maunsell, 2003)

Although the report is quite outdated, it acknowledges MK's unique structure, such as grid road squares discouraging the passage of through traffic, meaning that bus routes would have to be either remote from users if they run along grid roads or be "torturous and inefficient" if they loop through estates to get closer to users (Pharoah, 2003). The report reviews densities and concludes that higher housing density is required to support public transport. The study also acknowledges that Milton Keynes has a polycentric nature where employment nodes are scattered around the town. Three transit options are reviewed: light rail transit, guided light transit (rubber wheels, partly on tracks) and busways.

Different transport scenarios are explored on two growth options using an Economic Assessment and the report concludes that based on Cost Benefit Ratio (CBR) guided Light transit and Light Rail Transit (LRT) have "very poor" performance. While the study acknowledges that these modes have the ability to attract more users (higher modal shift), it is not incorporated in the assessment process. Stakeholder engagement was limited to the client group and no stakeholders were involved in the appraisal exercise.

1.6. Summary of findings

While being extremely expensive, large infrastructure projects can generate significant economic, financial, environmental, social, political and technological effects on the area and communities (Hirshman 1995, Omega Centre 2011, Dean 2018). Appraisal methods have changed and evolved significantly, but there are concerns about the excessive importance given to monetary/economic aspects, such as CBA (Parkin and Sharma 1999, Brown et al., 2001, Alexander 2006a, Naess 2006, Metz, 2008, Omega Centre 2010, Hickman 2016, Dean 2018). Indeed, Study 1 and Study 3 heavily weighted cost of the system without expediting other benefits much. O'Neil (2009) argues that public transport is a social infrastructure and does not have to be profitable. In the Study 2, where stakeholders were involved, it was evident that preference was given to rail based systems, though costs have been excluded from the exercise and details on each intervention have not been presented.

Furthermore, limited stakeholder engagement and the exclusion of many project stakeholders from the appraisal process (as seen in Study 1 and Study 3) has been further criticised by

colleagues (Haezendonck 2007, Macharis et al., 2009, Colomb 2010, Omega Centre 2012, Dean 2018).

Table 2 below summarises methods employed in three MRT studies, level of stakeholder engagement and participation in the appraisal process. It also summarises how effectively environmental and social benefits have been incorporated in the methodology:

Table 3 Appraisal Methods employed by previous MRT Studies (Author's own interpretation)

	Study 1	Study 2	Study 3
Appraisal Method employed	CBA	MCA	CBA
Stakeholder engagement level in the	None	Some	Some
study			
Stakeholder involvement in scheme	None	Low	None
appraisal			
Environmental and social benefits	No	Yes	No
included in the appraisal method			

Furthermore, the recent and the most advanced study (ITP, 2019):

- Excludes local policies and objectives from assessment (i.e. environmental targets)
- Acknowledges that bus services are more likely to be used by people without access to a car, rather than positively selected based on the merits of the service. It excludes social equality and social benefits from equation.
- Assumes that modal shift will raise from 6% users to 15% (same for BRT and LRT) yet it does not incorporate the likelihood of each of the modes to achieve a modal shift
- Presents limited evidence and supports arguments to strengthen the BRT option (bias)
- Despite recognising that Milton Keynes was conceived as and still is a poly-centric town, the study suggests monocentric routes and fails to acknowledge the unique structure of the town

To conclude, all three MRT studies show limitations and therefore do not offer MKC enough information to make a fully informed decision as to which option to proceed with. The research project further proceeds with the research question in the following section.

2. Research aim

Following a review of previous MRT studies, it can be concluded that there is a significant gap between the system that is required to achieve strategic environmental targets and the system that is being proposed (BRT).

On analysis of the ITP study of 2019 it seems naïve to assume that implementing bus priority measures along existing bus routes will achieve a significant modal shift in Milton Keynes. Arguably, more than "delivering more of the same" is required to reach the sustainability targets. Modal shift in a car centric city, where residents are spoilt by excessive parking and fast roads, will be difficult to achieve.

The structure of Milton Keynes is unique: population and activities are dispersed across a polycentric town topped by reasonably low housing density. The transport system including its high-speed grid roads and its impact on public transport has to be recognised.

Lastly and most importantly, the incomplete and subjective assessment of a transport project can not only fail to improve the town but potentially further contribute to the current environmental issues and social injustice, as well as strategic environmental issues for the generations to come (Dean 2018). Furthermore, absence of a clear future transport scenario generates a lot of uncertainty and does not make the existing approach to MRT system planning robust. To recap, two major problems with MRT project planning to date are:

1) The appraisal methods used in previous studies do not incorporate the following:

- I. Stakeholder views
- II. Benefits and impacts of different MRT systems (social, economic, environmental etc.)

2) MRT planning/vision does not incorporate the following:

- I. Local strategic priorities and policies
- II. Structural differences (polycentric city with grid roads)
- III. Long-term vision/ scenario (where do we want to be)
- IV. Strengths/Weaknesses/Opportunities/Threats for public transport in Milton Keynes

2.1. Research questions

To understand which MRT system would be the most suitable for Milton Keynes, the following questions arise:

• What appraisal techniques are available and which method is the most effective?

In particular, is there a transport project assessment methodology that is capable of adequately capturing the benefits of each transport system, local challenges, policies and strategies that give a wholesome and holistic answer?

• What should be included in the assessment criteria?

How important are the following: cost, various benefits, aesthetics and how should different objectives be prioritised? Hypothetically, different systems have different benefits and putting the cost of the system aside, these benefits should be acknowledged by stakeholders.

• How important is it to have a clear vision/scenario when planning a major transport project?

Lack of vision generates uncertainty. Would setting a clear scenario make a difference in the level of ambition that the future MRT system planning will incorporate?

• What is the role of stakeholders in the appraisal of a transport project?

Stakeholder engagement is certainly important, but how much power should be given to stakeholders? Why is only limited power usually given to stakeholders? How risky is it to give full power to stakeholders? Can stakeholders change the results of previous studies?

2.2. Research objectives

To answer the main question the following research objectives have been identified:

- 1. A review of appraisal methods suitable for major transport projects. The selection of the most suitable MCA method for practical application to this case study.
- To understand Milton Keynes' background; summarise local challenges and objectives, future growth opportunities and threats through a SWOT analysis. To set a clear transport scenario for MK2050
- 3. To undertake the best practice review: understanding the main attributes of a good transit system and how these attributes can be captured through the objectives of the appraisal method
- 4. Practical application of a participatory MCA method on a wide range of stakeholders
- 5. Critically assess results to understand to what extent the use of participatory MCA methodologies enhances current appraisal practice (and if it does).

2.3. Research methods

In an effort to develop a new insight into a relatively unknown topic, in this case the practical application of a participatory MCA, the exploratory studies research method has been chosen. According to Selltiz and colleagues (1965), this method's research technique entails:

- a literature review
- an in-depth survey of people with expertise and
- an analysis of one or more case studies.

Below is a summary of the proposed research methods for the different stages of this work.

-			
	Research Objectives	Research methods employed	Type of data used
1	Review of transport project appraisal methods	Literature review	Secondary
2 Understanding specifics of the case		Literature review	Secondary
	Milton Keynes 2050	Case study analysis	
3 Best practice review: attributes of good transport systems and how to incorporate this in the appraisal process	Literature review	Secondary	
	Informal survey	Primary	
	process		
4 Testing case stu	Testing participatory MCA on the	Literature review	Secondary
	case study of Militon Keynes	Workshops with different	Primary
		stakeholder groups	
5 Analysis of the data and results, understanding strengths and weaknesses of the method.	Analysis of the data and results,	Findings from previous	Secondary
		Primary	
		Practical use of the method	
		Feedback from participants (survey)	

3. Literature review

This main literature review is conducted around the different research methods available to date with a focus on participatory MCAs, their strengths and limitations. Additional literature seeks to understand the importance of incorporated in MCA and reviews the attributes of a good public transport system to incorporate the findings in the author's own participatory MCA.

3.1. Appraisal methods: from CBA to MCA

Several colleagues researched a more advanced appraisal technique where stakeholders play an important role – a participatory Multi-Criteria Analysis. The International Society on Multi-Criteria Decision-Making stresses that there are several different methods, techniques and tools available, where multiple objectives and decision criteria or attributes can be incorporated in the analysis of and solution to the problem (Gamper et al., 2006). To understand this method better, a brief review of different appraisal techniques is conducted. Dean (2018) accurately summarised the evolution of appraisal methods in Figure 14.



Figure 14 Historical development of transport and infrastructure appraisal practice (Dean, 2018)

Cost-Benefit Analysis (CBA) is one of the first appraisal methodologies that seeks to establish the social desirability to implement a project mostly from the economic point of view (Sinden and Thampappilai, 1995). According to many economists including Snell (1997) and Egras (2009), this method is straightforward and relatively rigorous in determining if a project

is a good allocation of resources, easily understandable by decision-makers, well-researched and inclusive.

Later **Environmental and Social Impact Assessments (EIA and SIA)** have been introduced to evaluate any possible negative and damaging impacts of a project (environmental and social consequences) (Sadler and Varheem, 1996; Parkin and Sharma 1999). These approaches are well supported by several academics (Senécal, et. al ,1999; Petts, 1999; Glasson et al 2005) as they are seen to constitute a valid appraisal framework for assessment of environmental and social consequences of a project where these factors are weighted at the same level as economic and technical aspects. The stakeholder engagement during these methods is optional and views of the public do not have to be taken into account (Behre et al. 2015).

Multi-Criteria Analysis (MCA) methods typically encompass a wide array of techniques and tools through which multiple objectives and criteria can be incorporated into the analysis. There are several MCA methods, but typically according to Triantphyllou and Mann (1989), all of them have the following key elements:

- Options a proposed solution to a perceived problem
- Objectives a specific achievable result
- Criterion a measurable indicator of performance that relates to an objective
- Dimensions- aggregation of objectives and appraisal criteria in overarching areas, typically clustered around the economic, environmental and social dimensions, the main three pillars of sustainable development.
- Score an interval measure that identifies the performance of an option against a specific objective. Interval scales can be numeric or semantic and score highperforming options higher on the sale and low-performing options – lower.
- Weight the level of importance of objective and appraisal criteria are measured by a coefficient where a high-importance objective/criteria are identified with higher weighting.

In overall the multi-criteria method can be defined as a set of rules establishing the nature of options, objectives, criteria, scores and weights in a way where these elements are ultimately aggregated together (Munda, 1995 ; 2008). Different scenarios (economic, environmental, social, political and technological) can be used to change the weights of objectives and criteria to examine the robustness of the project under a different future conditions (Goodwin and Wright, 2001; Belton and Stewart, 2002, Lambert et al., 2012). Dean (2018) illustrated the concept of MCA below:

Option a						
Appraisal dimensions	objectives	criteria	Weights W	Scores s	Total w x s	
Economic	Objective 1	Criterion 1,1	W 1,1	S 1,1	(W 1,1) x (S 1,1)	
		Criterion 1,2	W 1,2	S 1,2		
		Criterion 1,3				
	Obejctive 2	Criterion 2,1				
		Criterion 2,2				
	Objective 3	Criterion 3,1				
Environmental	Objective 4					
	Objective 5					
	Obective 6					
Social						
		OVI	ERALL PERFO	RMANCE	Σwxs	

Figure 15 Example of performance table for one option (Dean, 2018)

There is a significant amount of literature supporting and criticising both CBA and MCA methods (Hill, 1966 and 1973), though lately the complementariness between the two approaches have been identified and a combination of CBA and MCA has been used (Salling et.cal, 2005, Sijisma, 2006, Schuttle, 2010). Furthermore, CBA and MCA can be used in two stages, where one is used as a primary screening tool to identify and reflect poor projects and the other for a detailed assessment of the most suitable project proposal (Parkin and Sharma 1999, Goodman and Hastak 2006. Dean (2018) explains that all appraisal methodologies are closely linked not only at a project but also at programme, plans and policy levels as per figure below, hence non-MCA methods have been included in the review:



Figure 16 Relationships between appraisals (Dean, 2018)

3.2. Participatory MCA

MCA methodologies can be distinguished as analyst-led (non-participatory) and participatory depending on the number of actors involved in the process. Analyst-led appraisals can be carried out by a single analyst or a small team of experts who are well suited to make complex technical decisions (McAllister 1982, Stirling, 1998, Funtowicz and Ravetz 1991). Participatory techniques involve different parties to get a better understanding of a problem through a collaborative and democratic approach, Stirling, 1998, Funtowicz and Ravetz 1991. Engagement can be done through a co-operative decision-making process where only a few people with similar interests are involved, for example where participants are members of the same organisation; or through negotiation decision-making where many people are involved often with conflicting interests (Lu et al., 2007, Kilgour et al., 2010). The latter describes a typical decision-making process for a complex major project involving a number of actors and agencies. Dean (2018) reviewed types of participatory MCAs and mapped it based on level of stakeholder participation as seen in Figure 17.



Figure 17 Level of participation within MCA (Dean, 2018)

For example, in the Goal-Achievement Matrix method (Hill, 1966, 1968, 1973) stakeholders are involved only during the determination of the weighting scheme while Multi-Criteria Mapping(MCM) (Stirling 1998) provides participants with the opportunity to drive all stages of the process.

As stressed in the Skeffington Report, published in 1969, (Cullingworth,1999) a systematic approach to community involvement in planning is important. Public participation is seen as a good thing, but for projects like MRT appraisal is not seen as essential element. Arnstein's ladder of participation (Arnstein, 1969; in Cullingworth, 1999) suggests that there could be different levels of participation (Figure 18) where higher rungs (citizen power) of the ladder are seen as desirable, while lower rungs (nonparticipation and tokenism) are seen as bad practice that should be avoided. Applying the ladder to the participatory MCA, it appears that the different methods are giving citizens different powers – citizen control, delegated power or partnership. The following two methods are reviewed in detail:

Figure 18 Arnstein's ladder of citizen participation (Cullingworth ,1999)



3.2.1. Multi-Actor Multi-Criteria Analysis (MAMCA)

MAMCA (Macharis, 2004, 2011, 2015) methodology is an interactive decision-making process where several stakeholders are involved, and their opinions are explicitly taken into account throughout the structured analytical process. It typically combines Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) and Preference Ranking Organisation MeTHod for Enrichment Evaluations (PROMETHEE) techniques to manage objectives and scores. The typical process consists of a stakeholder analysis, selection of alternatives, setting the criteria and weights by stakeholders followed by an analyst led scoring as per Figure 19:





3.2.2. Multi-Criteria Mapping (MCM)

MCM by Stirling & Mayer (1999) is an appraisal method where participants can choose their own options (including identification of new options) to appraise during individual interviews. The method includes defining the appraisal criteria, scoring of the performance of the chosen options and allocating weighting to each criterion in terms of its relative importance (Stirling, 2000). The method also acknowledges the uncertainty and ambiguity associated with possible outcomes.



Figure 20 Multi Criteria Mapping (Stirling, 1998)

MCM (Sirling 1998) approach gives more power to the stakeholders (citizen control) while MAMCA (Macharis, 2012) falls between partnership and delegated power. As this is an academic exercise and the planning guidance suggests "the greater the public participation the better", a mix of appraisal methods will be adopted for the practical part of this study.

3.3. Defining Criteria for MCA: What makes public transport good?

Density and urban design

Naess and colleagues (2017) stressed that characteristics like the density of an area are important when planning transport. For instance, urban sprawl and low-density developments have been criticised for decades (Buchanan 1965, Hall, 1966, Lynch, 1961, Neman and Kenworthy, 1989) mainly because they are seen as inefficient land use (Camagni et. al, 2002) and encourage car dependency (Newman and Kenworthy, 1999). The relationship between public transport usage and density is a highly debated topic, but Guerra and Cervero (2010; 2011) clarify that low density does not necessarily mean low ridership. Mees (2010) highlights that European countries like Germany focus on timings and frequency of services to generate high ridership numbers. Walker (2012) assessed American cities and concluded that indeed, density is not an issue, the efficiency and convenience of transit is the priority of a good transit.

Some say that there is a strong relationship between the uptake of sustainable modes of travel, urban space and public health (Townshend and Lake, 2009, Tzoulas, 2007, Dulal et al. 2011). This relationship is well incorporated in TfL's Healthy Streets scheme appraisal in London (TfL, 2018). Good urban design and attractiveness of neighbourhoods can make a significant difference in levels of active travel and uptake of sustainable transport modes (Giles-Corti et al., 2013, Townshend and Lake, 2016, Townshend, 2017).

Boarnet and Crane (2001) argue that the built environment comes first, and travel behaviour follows. MK was built for cars where pedestrian space is allocated in the form of a fully segregated pathway network (Redways), pedestrians use underpasses and bridges to cross the major roads and not much thought was given to the quality of urban environment since MK was built. Could this be the reason for low public transport usage? Urban environment is clearly an important factor to consider when planning a new MRT and therefore should be included in the appraisal process.

Long term vision/ commitment

The polycentric and disperse nature of MK along with its distinctive but questionable urban design appears to be an obstacle to delivering a well-functioning public transport system. Are these obstacles fixed or can these issues be rectified? Some argue that housing and business nodes are very quick to change, and transport infrastructure responds to these changes slowly (reactive) (Lynch, 10972, Wegener and Furst, 1999). Transit-oriented developments (TODs) are seen as a more proactive town planning approach in terms of addressing environmental and social issues (Cervero et al. 2002, Cervero and Kockleman, 1997). TOD means densification around transit stations and building new nodes (housing and economic activities)

in those areas well-connected by public transport to reduce car dependency and determine future travel patterns (proactive). The approach works well in Europe, for instance Freiburg, Germany has a great public transport network and low car ownership levels. However, there has been a consistent TOD supporting transport planning approach for the last 60 years. One of the tools that can aid more strategic thinking is development of a longer-term scenario and working backwards from it (backcast).

Backcasting/Scenario planning:

Uncertainty often accompanies large projects. According to Courtney 1997 and Frommelt 2008, there are different levels of "residual uncertainty" as presented in Figure 21 below. *Figure 21 Levels of residual uncertainty (Hickman, 2014)*



These range from low levels of uncertainty where the future is clear enough to a high level of uncertainty where there is no basis to forecast the future. Van der Heijen (1996) explains how the level of uncertainty changes over time, he stressed that in the long term everything is uncertain and strategies at that point is based on "hope" (Figure 22).





Hickman and colleagues (2014) use a Backcasting tool (Figure 25) to address uncertainty and reach sustainability targets (such as reduction of emissions).





While MKC has already undertaken some future transport scenario work, the future transport path has not been chosen, hence planning MRT systems to date has been done with a lot of uncertainty and a distinct lack of strategic vision. TIDP study (MKC, 2019) presents the following possible transport scenarios:
- Scenario 1: Sustainable Milton Keynes (Sustainable Max)
- Scenario 2: Autonomous, Seamless and Shared Milton Keynes (E-Av Max)
- Scenario 3: Mobility Choices Milton Keynes (Choices Max)

In all three scenarios MRT plays an important role, but there is no clear MK 2050 transport scenario. The hypothetical is scenario therefore presented later in this document to encourage strategic thinking among the participants.

3.4. Additional data gathering

Despite the additional literature review that is not the priority of this work, it is still unclear what the formula for a successful MRT is. I therefore invited colleagues on LinkedIn to think about the best transport system in the world that they have used and answer one question "What factors are the most important for a good public transport?". An astonishing 63% (32 out of 51 respondents) answered that "good network and high frequency", as suggested by Mees (2010), is the most important feature of a good transport system followed by other factors as per Figure 24.

	100000
What factors are the most importan good public transport? (Results to b in my dissertation @UCL)	t for a be used
You can see how people vote. Learn more	
Good network/high frequency	63%
Urban environment, walkability	12%
Priority over car, reliability	18%
Long-term commitment/invest.	8%
51 votes • Poll closed	

Figure 24 LinkedIn Survey (Author's own)

Walker (2012) argues that grid roads are the perfect opportunity to optimise network and deliver an efficient and cost-effective transfer-based (Figure 25) transit. This is a crucial finding to this study as it stresses that our existing bus network is inefficient and is not fit for purpose, while the grid road system has potential to run a first-class transit. These findings should be validated by the stakeholders.





Understanding regulatory framework

Privatisation and the deregulation of public transport in 60s had a significant impact on the level of control that National Agencies and Local Authorities have over public transport operators today. While these policy decisions lifted the financial burden from the government's shoulders (Banister, 1994), the long-term benefits are questionable. Today, bus operators have full control over services and are able to change routes, frequencies and request additional funding from government to operate unprofitable services (Glaister et al., 1998). As per Bus Service Act (2017), bus operators in Milton Keynes operate under a Voluntary Quality Bus Partnership. The bus usage along with user satisfaction are rapidly declining and there is little the authority can do to help apart from allocating further subsidies. While the possibility of signing an Advanced Quality Partnership Scheme (AQPS)¹ is there, the decision to run a particular service lies with the operating company, which means that the local authority's ambitions in delivering a BRT system could be limited by what the operators are willing to provide.

Any major project, including Light Rail, requires a full appraisal by the Department for Transport as well as securing statutory powers under the Transport and Works Act 1992. This means that only a selected few local authorities in the UK have succeeded in delivering schemes like tram (Pharoah, 2003). Despite urban light rail showing a high passenger satisfaction and high patronage (Figure 26), only a few light-rail schemes have been delivered in the UK. This could be because DfT's project appraisal method prioritises CBA above other factors.

¹ Advanced Quality Partnership Scheme (AQPS) requires bus operators to meet specific local standards in order to use infrastructure provided by the local authority

Figure 26 Light rail and Tram statistics (DfT, 2018)



3.5. Key findings

As per literature review, CBA and MCA proved to have certain gaps. CBA is one of the most commonly used appraisal techniques (Vickerman, 2000, Goodman and Hastak, 2006) but has been criticised for assigning significant importance/weight to travel time saving when assessing transport system investments (Metz, 2008), along with excluding stakeholders during the analysis (Macharis and Bernardini, 2015) and a "disregard of intra-generation equity" (Van Wee, 2012).

The most suitable participatory MCA for this project is MAMCA (Macharis, 2012) because it is well researched, there is an online tool available to assist with complex calculations and it has previously been applied to transport projects. With the exception of option selection, stakeholders are extensively involved throughout the process. However, because MK has not properly assessed the MRT options, the participation will be extended to allow stakeholders to select their preferred MRT options, as per the Multi-Criteria Mapping Method (Stirling and Mayer, 1999).

While Dean's (2018) and Macharis (2015) criteria used for transport projects comes from a policy review (similar to Policy-Led Multi-Criteria Analysis, Omega 2011) and can be broadly adopted, it needs to be specific to MK.

However, it doesn't appear that other participatory MCAs looked at attributes of a good transit, hence more research was required to understand what defines a public transport system to make an appraisal method even more robust. As such, efficient and high frequency network is a key to a good public transport system, followed by priority over car, urban design and a long-term strategic planning. It was important to understand the limitations of a local authority

in delivering an MRT, for example, cost will be the most important factor if a project requires DfT's approval and hence BRT would be much easier to deliver. However, due to limited powers, the success of BRT system will depend on public transport operator's cooperation. Furthermore, low densities and grid roads are not necessarily obstacles for a good transit, quite the opposite: the new MRT system must use these unique features to it's advantage. Finally, strategic vision and long-term commitment to delivering a high quality MRT is crucial. While majority of these findings can be incorporated in the appraisal exercise, others would have to be left in the background.

4. Methodology explained: MAMCA with a twist

Dean (2018) explains that the MCA method and its outputs will vary depending on the level of stakeholder engagement. While Macharis' (2012) MAMCA appears to be a good solution to the underlying issues of the MRT in Milton Keynes research undertaken to date, it doesn't give stakeholders the freedom to explore MRT options of their own choosing. Going that one step further in terms of the level of stakeholder participation and selecting a fully participatory MCA where stakeholders instead of appraising pre-selected scenarios choose their own MRT must give a more holistic solution, similar to the method adopted by Stirling (1998) - Multi-Criteria Mapping.

Therefore, the appraisal method chosen for this study is a mix of MAMCA (Macharis, 2012) and Multi-Criteria Mapping (Stirling, 1998), referred to as



Analyst undertook the following steps

- Define the issue, analyse it and develop a framework for a solution
- Research case study, policies, strategies, ambitions, issues with public transport and present findings (includes current issues and future opportunities, SWOT)
- Define the ideal transport scenario for the area to allow options to be appraised with a more strategic approach
- Identify the stakeholders (conduct workshops)
- Prepare objectives and sub-objectives for stakeholders to choose from
- Analyse the results

As per picture above, participants are involved in:

- 1. Selecting MRT options
- 2. Defining objectives (sub-objectives only)
- 3. Allocating weights against objectives and chosen sub-objectives
- 4. Scoring the initially selected options against their own criteria

4.2. Process explained

Selecting MRT options

Dean (2018) and Macharis (2015) and the majority of other authors use pre-defined options in their methodologies, but for this case study the desire is to not limit possible MRT scenarios. Therefore, my methodology has an additional step where participants are asked to choose three MRT options to appraise. It was intended to give participants full freedom for creativity when offered to choose any known MRT options and therefore detailed scenarios were not prepared. It has been anticipated that other options than those on the list would be put forward and for consistency purposes detailed MRT scenarios weren't offered.

Approach to workshops

As the appraisal process was complex, participants were sent a short workshop briefing note (Appendix A) which presented participants with information on possible MRT options to choose from and how each mode is likely to score on the most controversial aspects like cost, also included was a SWOT analysis for public transport in Milton Keynes.

On the day participants were given a short presentation about Milton Keynes, briefed about different appraisal methods, previous MRT studies and explained the purpose of the

workshop. Participants were invited to appraise transport system in line with the MK2050 ideal transport scenario as follows (Figure 29):



Figure 28 MK2050 Future Transport Scenario/Vision

Participants were then presented with seven MRT and Non-MRT options and were encouraged to choose their own options if they wanted to:

- 1. BRT
- 2. BRT light
- 3. Tram
- 4. Tram light
- 5. Metro
- 6. Monorail
- 7. NON -Transit Demand Responsive Transit

Criteria selection:

Participants were invited to consider the proposed criteria for assessing the options and to select sub-objectives in five categories/objectives Transport and Planning, Environmental, Economic, Social and Suitability (TEESS).

Figure 30 Suggested criteria (Author's own)

	Suggested Criteria/Objectives									
Transport and Planning	Environmental	Economic	Social	Suitability						
 Supports growth (500,000+) Encourages regeneration and densification Priority over private car movement (MK) Reliability of service Comfort and convenience Travel times and speed Reduced congestion 	 Climate change mitigation (MK) Carbon zero target (MK) Reduced noise, pollution and vibration Air quality Reduced green house gas emissions Landscape and environment Aesthetics (appearance of transit vehicles, stations, waiting areas and documents). 	 Cost of the system Attracts visitors and tourists Land value uplift Attracts developers New jobs and business growth Increased economic prosperity Reduced unemployment and poverty 	 Equality: affordable transport for all Ease of reaching transit stations and stops, (including the most vulnerable users) Reduced transport inequality Health and wellbeing Improved safety and security (more CCTV, better lit town, more non-car users along grid roads) Improved social and community infrastructure and facilities 	 Fits with local objectives and ambitions Links with existing transport infrastructure (inc grid roads) Futureproof: technology and automation Attracts car users (not just existing bus users) Meeting travel demand/ gets people to their destinations Practical feasibility/buildability 						

They were then invited to choose/keep/add 3-4 sub-objectives in each of the categories.

Stakeholders/participants

The following stakeholders have been identified and grouped in 8 workshops:

- Group 1 Transport Planners (Milton Keynes Council)
- Group 2: External Transport Experts
- Group 3: Environmental focus
- Group 4: Youth
- Group 5: Centre for Integrated Living (CIL) (people with mobility issues)
- Group 6: Bus User Groups
- Group 7: Business groups, Architects, Property Developers, Urban Designers
- Group 8: Academia

Car drivers and residents of MK?

Originally, a car user group was proposed. Instead participants were asked if they are local to MK and if they are car drivers. The majority of them were drivers.

Weights

Each group has 100 points to allocate across five objectives. Next, participants had to allocate further 100 points across sub-objectives in each of the categories.

Scores

Participants then score on a 10-point scale using Simple Multiattribute Rating Technique:

Figure 31 Calculation methods explained (Macharis, 2015)

SMART (Simple Multiattribute Rating Technique) evaluation

The final results won't be normalized, the scores explicitly express the preferences on alternatives



5. Research ethics

As this research required stakeholder engagement, data gathering has been undertaken in accordance with UCL research ethics guidance. All of the participants have consented to take part in this study. Participants' personal data has been stored and processed in compliance with General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR 2018)

6. Analysis of data

6.1. Stakeholder analysis

Eight groups, with 25 people in total were surveyed. The aim was for stakeholder groups to cover as many issues as possible from those identified in the literature review. People from different backgrounds, at different stages in life and with various perspectives on the subject took part. The stakeholders were found through the author's professional network on LinkedIn and others were contacted directly via email.

The first two groups were professionals with extensive expertise in transport - internal and external colleagues. These were kept separate, mainly to see how their views compared in the end. Internal transport professionals (Group 1) represented corporate well-established thinking, while external professionals (Group 2) presented an opportunity to look at the issue from a different angle. Group 3 had an environmental focus and consisted of a sustainable transport mode users and supporters – UK Tram, Milton Keynes Cycling Forum and Electric Vehicle Experience Centre. These were individuals with a strong understanding of links between transport, harmful GHG emissions, climate change and the environment. Group 4 was comprised of young people, mostly young employees of Milton Keynes Council. It was important to me to survey younger generations to understand what transport system they would like to see in the next decades as they are going to be the future users. Group 5 consisted of one person: the chair of the CIL (Centre for Integrated Living) an organisation that supports, empowers and enables people with disabilities. Group 6, the Bus User Group, represented views and ambitions of existing public transport users. Group 7 was the most diverse in terms of the background of the participants: one urban designer (London), one shopping centre representative (National Transport Planner, Intu, MK), one architect (MK) and one major developer (MK). Finally, Group 8 represented academia with two participants from UCL. A full list of participants along with their job titles, car ownership status and residency (local to Milton Keynes) is presented in Appendix B (Table 1).

Covid-19. Organising workshops in the middle of the pandemic was certainly challenging. Engaging with the local Environmentalist Group was not possible. The majority of the group members were older and due to the Covid-19 situation it was unsafe to meet them face to face and online conference was not always possible. Furthermore, due to technical issues one participant (student, representing young people) could not take part.

Table 7 presents MRT options selected by each of the groups. The most popular options were Tram Light (selected 6 times), Non-MRT (selected 5 times) followed by 3RT and BRT Light (selected 4 times) and a tram (3 times). Monorail was selected once and Metro was not selected by any of the groups. An additional MRT mode has been suggested – Docklands Light Rail alike which was selected once. Unlike MAMCA which offers pre-defined options to appraise, this method offered participants opportunity to select options that they were interested in. Arguably, freedom to select their own options allowed this study to examine more options than anticipated and resulted in a broader research that wasn't limited to two options (BRT and Tram) as per Study 1.

Table 5 MRT options chosen by group (Author's own)

Type of MRT	Group	1	Group	2	Group	3	Group	4	Group 5 CIL	Group 6 Bus	Group 7	Group	8	
	Transport		External		Environm	nent	Youth			User Group	Businesses/A	Academia		
	Planners		Transport		al Fo	ocus					rchitects/Dev			Number of
			Experts		group						elopers/Urba			times
											n Designers			selected
BRT	•		•							•		•		4
BRT Light					•					•	•	•		4
Tram	•								•		•			3
Tram Light			•		•		•			•	•	•		6
Non-MRT														
Autonomous	•		•		•		•		•					5
Monorail							•							1
Metro														0
DLR alike									•					1

5.3. Objectives: weights allocation per group

Figure 34 below shows how different stakeholder groups chose to allocate 100 points across Transport and Planning, Environmental, Economic, Social and Suitability (TEESS) objectives. Two groups (6 and 8) scored Transport and Planning objectives the highest. Three groups, 2, 4 and 7 prioritised environmental objectives. Groups 5 and 8 gave environmental objectives the highest scores. Groups 1 and 4 prioritised social factors and only one group (6) gave significant weight to suitability objectives.

invironmental objectives have been scored consistently high across all groups apart from group o that gave it less than to out of too points. The same group allocated /ery low 5 points to economic objectives.

Figure 32 Objectives: weight allocation per group



-lowever, looking at the average weights allocated, the split appears to be more or less even across the five objectives (Figure 33) which might suggest that the proposed criteria was useful and readily adopted by the participants. As earlier sections suggest there is lack of consistency across the criteria in MCA, therefore this or similar could be used as template for future transport project appraisals.



δ.4. Sub-objectives: weights allocation per group

Across all groups (8) several selected and prioritised the following sub-objectives for the new MRT system:

- Support growth (5 out of 8 groups selected)
- Priority over car (7/8)
- Travel times and speed (7/8)
- Carbon zero target (7/8)
- Reduced noise, pollution, vibration and emissions (7/8)
- Landscape and environment (6/8)

- Cost of the system (7/8)
- New jobs and business growth (6/8)
- Reduced unemployment and poverty (5/8)
- Ease of reaching the system (especially for vulnerable people) (5/8)
- Reduced transport inequality (7/8)
- Improved safety and security (6/8)
- Attractive to car users 6/8)
- Meets travel demands/get people to their destination (7/8)
- Practical feasibility/buildability (6/8)

This shows what aspects/attributes of an MRT systems the participants believed were particularly important. Figure 35 below shows all sub-objectives chosen and prioritised by each of the group:

пуше зо зивновјесниез зејестей ву дтоир (Ашног з омн)

	Group 1 Transport	Group 2 External	Group 3	Group 4 Youth	Group 5 CIL	Group 6 Bus User	Group 7	Group 8 Academia	Times	Significant
	Planners	Transport Experts	Environmental Focus			Group	Businesses/Architects		selected	importance
			group				/Developers			<u> </u>
1.Supports growth (500,000+)	•	•		•			•	•	5	i 2
2.Priority over private car movement (MK)	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	7	/ 0
3.Comfort and reliability			•		•				1	i 0
4.Travel times and speed	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	7	/ 2
5.Reduced congestion				•	•	•			3	3 1
6. Connectivity (new)							•		1	1 O
7. Severance (new)							•		1	1 0
1. Carbon zero target (MK)	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	7	/ 6
2. Reduced noise, pollution , vibration and emissions		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	7	/ 0
3.Landscape and environment	•	•	•		•	•	•		e	0 ة
4. Aesthetics (appearance of transit vehicles, stations etc)	•			•	•			•	3	3 0
1.Cost of the system	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	7	/ 2
2. Operational costs (new)							•		1	1 0
3.Increase of land value and attractiveness (developments)		•					•	•	3	3 0
4.New jobs and business growth	•	•	•	•	•				5	i 0
5.Increased economic prosperity					•	•	•	•	4	ŧ 0
6.Reduced unemployment and poverty	•		•	•	•	•			5	0 ة
1.Ease of reaching transit stations and stops (inc. vulnerable use	ers)		•	•	•	•		•	5	1 ة
2.Reduced transport inequality	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	7	/ 2
3.Health and wellbeing		•					•	•	3	3 0
4.Improved safety and security (more CCTV, better lit town etc.)	•	•	•	•		•	•		6	0 ة
5. Safety of the system (NEW)					•				1	1 1
6.Improved social and community infrastructure and facilities	•				•	•			3	3 0
7. Social inclusion							•		1	1 0
1.Fits with local objectives and ambitions	•	•							2	2 0
2.Futureproof: technology and automation		•		•	•				3	3 0
3.Attracts car users (not just existing bus users)	•		•	•		•	•	•	6	i 1
4.Meeting travel demand/ gets people to their destinations	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	7	/ 1
5.Practical feasibility/buildability			•	•	•	•	•	•	6	1 ة
6. Aestetics (New)							•		1	L 0
•	50 points or more									

J.J. FIIIAI IESUILS

Below are results of all groups on all options, using weighted method from MAMCA website.

Figure 36 Scores, all groups



The DLR and Monorail have been excluded from the final (average) results as they have been selected only once.



Across the groups Tram Light option scored the highest followed by BRT Light and Tram. Non-MRT scored significantly lower than the rest of the four modes. It is mportant to highlight that MAMCA's web tool was not suitable for presenting the final results as it doesn't extend to options selection, hence the results have been presented using MS Excel. It must be emphasised that these results would further benefit from a sensitivity analysis or further scrutiny as the options presented in Figure 36 have been selected different number of times, i.e. Tram-L six, while Tram only three times.

6.6. Key findings:

The detailed analysis of the workshops is located in Appendix B where each group, their chosen options, objectives, sub-objectives and allocated weights is reviewed in detail. Key findings are presented below:

Stakeholder engagement and setting the multi-dimensional criteria showed how different the results can be compared to the results of a standard CBA. In particular, in CBA while one mode (tram) was rated as "poor" while other scored extremely high (BRT). A participatory MCA showed that taking into consideration multiple objectives and the views of multiple stakeholders resulted in a more balanced results without such extreme differences. Although Tram-L scored slightly higher, BRT, BRT-L and Tram weren't far behind. Looking at the results it is evident that participants have seen it as a more desirable option for a number of factors:

- Priority over private cars
- Ability to deliver environmental targets and attract car users
- Ability to deliver sustainable growth

However, BRT in general scored significantly higher on the following:

- Cost of the system
- Coverage/Connectivity

Group 1 Internal Transport Planners acknowledged their bias towards BRT based on previous research and understanding of political will. While it was acknowledged that buses are the least attractive mode, it has not been reflected in their scoring.

Several groups discussed the importance of the cost. Most notably, in Group 2, External Transport Experts, the majority of the group understood that in an ideal scenario cost should not be the main factor that dictates future of the project, but one participant strongly disagreed. As the session continued, it was clear that the participant understood the importance of MCA in capturing other benefits. Some Groups (6, Bus User Group) and (5, CIL), putting the user hat on, gave little or no importance to the cost of the system and stressed that functionality and efficiency of the system is the key objective. It was clear from the exercise that across all groups there was an agreement that cost (while being important) is definitely not the only important objective of this project. Group 7 (Mix) and Group 8 (Academia) prioritised environmental objective above others, but across all groups environmental issues have been well acknowledged.

Group 3 (Youth) paid extra attention to the aesthetics of the system, they understood that innovative and forward-thinking place like MK requires something iconic, but functional. An Architect (in Group 7) who had similar views did not have an opportunity to express their thoughts due to different dynamics in the group.

In general, setting a clear scenario and SWOT analysis was helpful and it encouraged participants to think strategically and with a certain level of ambition.

Feedback: majority of the groups found the method interesting, thorough and mentally stimulating and suitable for a high-level project appraisal, while some found it arbitrary (no detailed scenarios) and time-consuming (due to too many objectives offered).

7. Discussion

In answer to the research questions:

- What appraisal techniques are available and which method is the most effective?
- How important is it to have a clear vision/scenario?
- What is the role of stakeholders?
- Is the method robust?

...I draw the conclusions below.

Unlike a CBA where it is difficult to include non-monetary benefits, MCA has much better potential to capture those non-economic benefits (Dean 2018). In this case, giving power to stakeholders to choose what to prioritise showed that cost is not the only important factor.

As Dean (2018) stated, an appraisal based purely on a strong BCR can smother wider policy goals such as social and environmental objectives. This has been identified as one of the biggest weaknesses of the previous MK assessments where the method of calculation of benefits (NPV) potentially misjudged and disproportioned social and environmental losses forcing future generations to bear the cost of that failure. Incorporating MKC's policies and strategies completely changed how different MRT systems have been evaluated, the participants adopted a strong position on sustainability which aligned well with local policies and ultimately affected the results.

CBA allows the substitution of environmental quality for economic growth and theoretically, as long as a project generates sufficient economic capital, the possible depletion of natural, non-renewable resources is not considered a problem (Munda, 1995, 2008). The practical application of a participatory MCA showed that stakeholders do not accept such trade-offs. The involvement of groups like young people and environmentalists showed that features like the sustainability of the system and its impact on the environment are crucial to them and are not to be traded for monetary savings.

Macharis and Bernardini, 2015, and Stirling, 2006 claim that a participatory MCA represents the most appropriate approach to understand the various concerns of different stakeholders, mainly through participation, the ability to choose their own objectives and to allocate their own weighting. However, MCA can be considered even more arbitrary than CBA (Dobes and Bennet, 2009 and 2010) as CBA's principles are well-established and researched. Indeed, MCA and especially a participatory MCA, does not have accepted or specific guidelines with

regards to the selection of objectives and criteria, procedures for scoring and weighting and results aggregation (Cook et al, 1988, Ozernoy, 1997, Jeffreys, 2004). While the flexibility of the method allowed MKC's values and environmental targets to be fully incorporated, defining criteria and agreeing it with stakeholders came with a significant amount of ambiguity. (Dobes 2009) urges government to increase the degree of consistency and transparency in appraisal methods i.e. standardise variables and clarify assumptions. The method would significantly benefit from national and international standardisation.

What is the role of stakeholders in the appraisal of a transport project?

I want to emphasise that stakeholder selection was a task that I approached with great care and I believe that it is the exceptionally diverse mix of knowledgeable stakeholders that I owe the success of this work to. The sense of responsibility amongst the participants was extremely high, the commitment and dedication, conscientiousness and willingness to do a good job was present in all groups. It was also fascinating to watch how opinions, theories and debates evolved on various topics. The example with cost prioritisation was probably the most valuable and pleasing moment as frankly, this was the reason why I chose to study this topic. The crucial role of public participation is undeniable. In this case, it has turned the results around. Doelle and Sinclair (2005) argue that public participation should be legislated in project assessments to encourage constructive participation. I am fully supportive of this suggestion.

Participatory MCA and bias

While MCA can be misused by analysts and special interest groups (Dobes, 2009), public involvement in participatory MCA minimises the possibility of this occurring. It has been noted that participants not only challenged the analyst's views, but also questioned and challenged each other's during this study. Even with public participation there is still scope for this methodology to be misused and push certain agenda forward, for example through the choice of a particular participants, careful choice of the information that is presented to participants and by withholding certain data/information.

People will always have an inherent bias; some groups will be dominated by other individuals. *Macharis and Nijkamp (2011) suggest that* biases can occur due to following reasons:

• Cognitive: restrictions of the short-term memory to correctly process information (Reyna et al., 2003)

- Perceptual: failure to analyse individual's motivations in multi-person and multiobjective decision making (Mercer, 2005) and
- motivational reasons (or positive confirmation bias): where a participant selects a preferred option early and accepts information that supports this option and denies facts that don't (Jones and Sugden, 2001; Fisher et al., 2008)

An example of a potential 'motivational reason' occurred in Group 5, where one participant strongly favoured a particular rail system. As there were no other participants to scrutinise his views, the system scored highly, and the results had to be excluded from the final result.

Flyvbjerg (2004) talked about optimist bias that occurs during project evaluation, for instance construction companies and consultants having interest in a project and therefore might overestimate the economic benefits that a project can bring. In this case, as it was an academic exercise no parties had political, institutional or financial interests in this project, therefore it is highly unlikely that their views had been corrupted. Compared to the single analyst led CBA performed in Study 1 that showed definite bias towards BRT, this study is less likely to be subject to criticism for bias due to the extensive scrutiny by multiple stakeholders and a far deeper and thorough examination.

Rail base or rubber tyre

Rail-based urban transport is often perceived to be superior to bus systems, but research around this topic is limited. Scherer and Dziekan (2001) call this phenomenon psychological rail factor and their study on user perceptions on the attributes of different public transport modes explains that tram's fixed infrastructure (attribution of guideway) is one of the factors that makes this mode seem more attractive than buses. They conclude that social and emotional factors lead people to making irrational decisions when it comes to choosing a public transport mode. While this has no explanation, it is important to acknowledge that this phenomenon exists. DfT's (2018) research shows that patronage on trams (unlike on buses) is growing steadily. Furthermore, tram passenger satisfaction is significantly higher than bus user satisfaction. Yet, DfT's appraisal guidance prioritises cost benefit analysis above all, making it difficult for costly schemes like trams to be developed, further adding to the importance of this work.

Practical issues of a participatory MCA

Organising eight online workshops and several follow up sessions during the global pandemic was challenging as I encountered technical issues and some groups (environmental group) could not take part. Several sessions overran (3 - 3.5h instead of planned 2h), there were extensive discussions and contrary opinions that took time to address. While it is a valuable part of this exercise it is worth noting that this method is time consuming and resource intensive.

Would it be better to have smaller or bigger groups? Ohtsubo and Masuchi (2004) and Baumann and Bonner (2004) say that size of the group plays an important role, in particular, individual opinions in larger groups lose its strength. This study showed that it depends upon the individuals in the group. Out of two groups, both had four participants. The first group had a fruitful debate and organic evolvement of views which led to a helpful symbiosis of opinions and conclusions. The second group was dominated by one individual and the rest of participants had to adopt his views. In conclusion, 3-4 people in an optimal group size for this exercise, but the dynamics of the group work depends on individuals.

Analysing data proved to be challenging. The <u>MAMCA tool</u> was used to process each group's scores, however, the tool did not have the facility for options selection and therefore Ms Excel had to be used for part of the analysis.

8. Reflective conclusions

Originally, I planned to broadly review different types of MRT to understand which system would be the most suitable for MK. However, I acknowledge that my bias towards rail-based systems could not be ignored. The analyst-led research would be subjective and unhelpful. Instead, I decided to focus on a review of transport scheme appraisal methods and chose a participatory Multi-Criteria Analysis to scrutinise my views and hypnosis on a broad range of stakeholders in order to get the most objective answer. Did the participatory MCA helped to answer the main question: *What system is the most suitable for MK according to the research?*

Yes. To conclude, the highest average score is for a Tram Light system. Despite the higher cost which has been acknowledged during the scoring exercise, participants recognised the greater benefits of this mode. The method proved that social, environmental and economic benefits are as important as (or even more important than) the cost of the system to all stakeholders. It is believed that incorporating MKC's policies, objectives and vision, an ambitious environmental goal, understanding the unique structure of MK and setting a clear

future transport scenario in the appraisal exercise encouraged participants to think more ambitiously and to prioritise environmental goals, and therefore prioritise Tram Light over BRT.

Should the cost be ignored?

Banister (2001) argues that first of all, transport is social infrastructure that should aim to benefit the society while improving the quality of living. Profitability is secondary, as long as transport delivers against main objectives and serves the purpose. Finally, O'Neil (2009) concludes that "failure to fund adequately non-economic and social infrastructure is a failure of understanding what infrastructure is". This study certainly pushed the importance of cost back giving more space to examine other factors. Undoubtably, cost has to be of great importance: if the system is not affordable it simply won't be built. There are benefits to CBA, for instance, it can be combined with MCA (Sijitsma, 2006; Shuttle, 2010; Van Wee ,2012) and CBA can be a helpful tool given its precision and accuracy if done properly Egras (2009). But there is still a lot of ambiguity around such approach. Cost should be incorporated in the appraisal, but it shouldn't be the most important criteria. As it stands, DfTs Web Tag is mostly prioritising cost which could explain why there are so few rail-based urban systems despite their superiority over buses. As it stands, the buyer dictates the rules. The future growth of MK means that developers will be bearing a significant part of the cost of any future MRT and it was made clear in this study that tram is seen as a preferred option. Yet the DfT remains the main decision maker, they have not only the funding but all the power.

How this study assists with decision making for Milton Keynes.

Although the methodology has been criticised for ambiguity and possible bias, it takes more factors into consideration and is far more superior to the methods used in past studies for a number of reasons:

- It Included extensive scrutiny through stakeholder engagement
- It gave significant consideration to the importance of local background (policies and strategies)

The MK MRT study would further benefit from understanding the psychological rail factor Scherer and Dziekan (2001). Given how low bus patronage is and the fact that it continues to fall, transport behaviour and attitudes towards types of any new MRT must be considered. MKC choosing BRT because it is cheaper is like buying pickled eggs instead of fresh: while they are significantly cheaper, it doesn't mean they will get eaten because not so many people like them. There is enough evidence in this work to stress that rail-based modes are more desirable. As environmental objectives are important, a research on the ability of different modes to achieve the carbon zero scenario through modal shift would be highly desirable There are plenty of examples of failed BRTs mostly due to poor design and planning, including prioritising peripheral, low-demand locations (such as new developments with high parking standards on the outskirts of MK). When searching for "failed tram projects" a list of projects that never took off for a number of reasons, such as complexity, high risks and costs and fear of failure, is presented, but there aren't actually many projects that failed once they have been constructed. It would therefore be useful to include a risk assessment for all types of systems in the appraisal.

In defence of participatory MCA's flexible criteria that is often criticised for being arbitrary, could it be time to standardise the process to reflect those social and environmental targets set up nationally and globally?

9. References

Alexander, A. (2009) Britain's New Towns: Garden Cities to Sustainable Communities,London,Routledge,p. 19-20.Availableat:https://www-taylorfrancis-com.libproxy.ucl.ac.uk/books/9780203875650 [Accessed 5 March 2020]

Alexander, E.R. (2006). Evolution and Status: Where is Planning Evaluation Today and How did It get Here? In: Alexander, E.R. (Ed.) Evaluation in Planning - Evolution and Prospects. Ashgate, pp. 3-16

Banister, D. (1994) Transport Planning in the UK, USA and Europe / David Banister. 1st ed. London ; New York: E & FN Spon, 1994. Print.

Banister, D. (2011) "Cites, mobility and climate change", Transport Policy, 15(1), pp.73-80. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u> primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_gale_infotracacademiconefile_A <u>273481943</u> [Accessed 12 March 2020]

Banister, D., and Berechman, Y. (2001) Transport investment and the promotion of economic growth, Journal of Transport Geography 9 (2001) 209 -18 Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_1016_S09</u> <u>66_6923_01_00013_8 [Accessed 4 July 2020]</u>

Barkman, P. (2016) The Guardian. Story of cities #34: the struggle for the soul of Milton Keynes. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/cities/2016/may/03/struggle-for-the-soul-of-milton-keynes [Accessed 5 March 2020]

Behre, C., Gross, T., Mannefeld, L., Mindach, C. (2015). Comparative Analysis. In: Dean. M. (2018) Assessing the Applicability of Participatory Multi-Criteria Analysis Methodologies to the Appraisal of Mega Transport Infrastructure. Ph.D. Dissertation. Available at: https://www.academia.edu/43180035/Assessing the Applicability of Participatory Multi Cr iteria Analysis Methodologies to the Appraisal of Mega Transport Infrastructure [Accessed 5th May 2020]

Belton, V. and Stewart, T. (2002). Multiple Criteria Decision Analysis: An Integrated Approach.KluwerAcademicPublisher.Availableat:https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_manchesteru_escholar_oai_escholarmanchester ac uk uk ac man scw 4b1329 [Accessed 28 March 2020]

Bendixson, T. and Platt, J. (1992) Milton Keynes: Image and reality. Cambridge: Granta Editions.

Boarnet, M. G., and Crane, R. (2001). Travel by design: The influence of urban form on travel.Oxford:OxfordUniversityPress.Availableat:https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=f7EtoDfL6yYC&printsec=frontcover&source=gbs_ge_summary_r&cad=0#v=onepage&q&f=false[Accessed 11 June 2020]

Brown, M., Milner, S. and Bulman, E. (2001). Assessing Transport Investment Projects: A Policy Assessment Model. In: Giorgi, L. and Pohoryles, R.J. (Eds.), Transport Policy and Research: What Future? Ashgate, pp. 44-89.

Buchanan, C. (1963) Traffic in Towns: a study of the long-term problems of traffic in urban areas. London: HMSO.

Census (2011) Car or van availability per household. Available at: <u>https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011/ks404ew</u> [Accessed 5 March 2020]

Cervero, R., Ferrell, C., and Murphy, S. (2002). Transit-oriented development and joint development in the United States : A literature review. Retrieved from Transportation Research Board

Cervero, R. and Kockelman, K. (1997). Travel demand and the 3Ds : Density, diversity, and design. Transportation Research Part D, Transport and Environment, 2(3), 199-219. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u>

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_1016_S13 61_9209_97_00009_6 [Accessed 30 March 2020]

Colomb, C. (2010). The Perspective of the Social Planner. Incorporating Principles of Sustainable Development within the Design and Delivery of Major Projects: An international study with particular reference to Mega Urban Transport Projects for the Institution of Civil Engineers and the Actuarial Profession. Working Paper 6, OMEGA Centre, University College London. Available at: <u>http://www.omegacentre.bartlett.ucl.ac.uk</u> [Accessed 12 March 2020]

Cook, W.D., Golan, I., Kazakov, A. and Kress, M. (1988). A Case Study of a Non-Compensatory Approach to Ranking Transportation Projects. The Journal of the Operational Research Society, Vol. 39, No. 10, pp. 901-910. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u> primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_1057_jors __1988_156 [Accessed 12 March 2020]

Courtney, H., Kirkland, J. and Viguerie, P. 1997. Strategy under uncertainty. Harvard Business Review, 75 (November–December), 67–79.Cullingworth, B. (1999) British Planning, 50 years of urban and regional policy. The Athlone Press, London

Dean, M. (2018) Assessing the Applicability of Participatory Multi-criteria Analysis (MCA)Methodologies to the Appraisal of Mega Transport Infrastructure (2018): Doctoral Thesis, UCL(UniversityCollegeLondon).Availablehttps://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10050225/1/Dean_10050225 thesis.Redacted.pdf[Accessed 1 July 2020]

Dean, M, Hickman, R, and Chen, C. (2019) "Testing the Application of Participatory MCA: The Case of the South Fylde Line." Transport Policy 73 (2019): 62-70. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u>

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_gale_infotracacademiconefile_A 562949400 [Accessed 5 June 2020]

Del Furia, L. and Wallace-Jones, J. (2000). The Effectiveness of Provisions and Quality of Practices Concerning Public Participation in EIA in Italy. Environment Impact Assessment Review, Vol. 20, pp. 457–479. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_1016_S01</u> 95_9255_00_00035_4 [Accessed 2 June 2020]

Department for Transport (2013) DfT Web Transport Analysis Guidance (Web TAG) Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/transport-analysis-guidance-tag</u> [Accessed 30 March 2020]

Dimitriou, H.T., Ward, E.J. and Dean, M. (2016). Presenting the Case for the Application of Multi- Criteria Analysis to Mega Transport Infrastructure Appraisal. Research in Transportation Economics, Special Edition. Vol. 58, pp. 7-20.

Dobes, L. and Bennett, J. (2009). Multi-Criteria Analysis: Good Enoughl for Government Work? Agenda, Vol. 16, No.3, pp. 7-29. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u> primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_proquest_journals_209795428 [Accessed 28 March 2020]

Dobes, L. and Bennett, J. (2010). Multi-Criteria Analysis: Ignorance or Negligence? Paper presented at the 'Australasian Transport Research Forum 2010', Canberra, Australia, 29 September – 1 October.

Doelle, M. and Sinclair, J. (2006). Time for a New Approach to Public Participation in EA: Promoting Cooperation and Consensus for Sustainability. Environment Impact Assessment Review, Vol. 26, pp. 185–205. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u> primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_osti_scitechconnect_20783324 [Accessed 13 July 2020]

Dulal, H. B., Brodnig, G., and Onoriose, C. G. (2011). Climate change mitigation in the transport sector through urban planning: A review. Habitat International, 35(3), 494-500. Availble at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u> primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_gale_infotracacademiconefile_A 341575682 [Accessed 13 July 2020]

Edwards, M. (2001) City Design: What Went Wrong at Milton Keynes? Journal of UrbanDesign 6.1(2001):87-96.Availableat:https://www-tandfonline-com.libproxy.ucl.ac.uk/doi/abs/10.1080/13574800120032905 [Accessed 5 March 2020]

England's Economic Heartland (2019) Draft Transport Strategy . Available at: <u>http://www.englandseconomicheartland.com/Documents/Draft%20Transport%20Strategy.pd</u> <u>*f* [Accessed 5 March 2020]</u>

 Ergas, H. (2009). In Defence of Cost-Benefit Analysis. Agenda, Vol. 16, No. 3, pp. 31-40.

 Available
 at:

 primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_proquest_journals_209794962

 [Accessed 4 April 2020]

Flyvbjerg, B. (2004). Procedures for Dealing with Optimism Bias in Transport Planning. The British Department for Transport, Guidance Document. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment da</u> <u>ta/file/191523/Procedures_for_dealing_with_optimism_bias_in_transport_planning.pdf</u> [Accessed 11 August 2020] Frommelt, O. 2008. Strategy, scenarios and strategic conversation: an exploratory study in the European truck industry. Doctor of Business Administration thesis, University of Nottingham.Funtowicz, S.O. and Ravetz, J.R. (1991). A New Scientific Methodology for Global Environmental Issues. In: Costanza, R. (Ed.), Ecological Economics: The Science and Management of Sustainability. Columbia University Press. pp. 137-152.

Gamper, C.D., Thöny, M. and Weck-Hannemann, H. (2006). A Conceptual Approach to the Use of Cost Benefit and Multi Criteria Analysis in Natural Hazard Management. Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences, Vol. 6, No. 2, pp. 293-302. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_doaj_primary_oai_doaj_org_artic_cle_ede80d5be1c145c59b785670015d8ae7</u> [Accessed 4 April 2020]

Garcia, B. P. (2019). Place and public transport: Station area characteristics in relation to passenger rail ridership (Order No. 28047879). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (2411745997). Available at: <u>https://search-proquest-com.libproxy.ucl.ac.uk/docview/2411745997?accountid=14511</u> [Accessed 12 June 2020]

Gehl, J. (2013). Cities for people. Burnaby, B.C: University of Simon Fraser Library. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u>

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/5qfvbu/UCL_LMS_DS21130609500004761 [Accessed 6 June 2020]

Glaister, S., Burnham, J., Stevens H., Travers T.(1998) Transport Policy in Britain. Basingstoke: Macmillan, 1998. Print. Public Policy and Politics. P. 3

Glasson, J., Therivel, R. and Chadwick, A. (2005). Introduction to Environmental Impact Assessment. Routledge (Third Edition). Available at: <u>http://site.iugaza.edu.ps/sghabayen/files/2013/02/John Glasson Riki Therivel Andrew Ch</u> <u>adwick IntBookos.org .pdf</u> [Accessed 4 May 2020]

Glucker, A.N., Driessen, P.P.J., Kolhoff, A. and Runhaar, H.A.C. (2013). Public Participation in Environmental Impact Assessment: Why, Who and How? Environmental Impact Assessment Review, Vol. 43, pp. 104-111.Available at: <u>https://ucl-newprimo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_osti_scitechconnect_22246914</u> [Accessed 12 March 2020] Goodman, A.S. and Hastak, M. (2006). Infrastructure Planning Handbook – Planning, Engineering, and Economics. ASCE Press.

Goodwin, P. and Wright, G. (2001). Enhancing Strategy Evaluation in Scenario Planning: A Role for Decision Analysis. Journal of Management Studies, Vol. 38, No.1, pp. 1-16. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u>

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_gale_infotracacademiconefile_A 73032815 [Accessed 6 June 2020]

Gordon, P., and Richardson, H. W. (1999). Are compact cities a desirable planning goal? Environment, Land Use and Urban Policy, 63(1), 95-106. Availble at: <u>https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_proquest_journals_229618321</u> [Accessed 3 May 2020]

Graham, S. and Marvin, S., (2001) Splintering Urbanism, Routledge, London. Available at: <u>https://www-taylorfrancis-com.libproxy.ucl.ac.uk/books/9780203452202</u> [Accessed 5 June 2020]

Grošelj, P., Hodges, D.G. and Zadnik Stirn, L. (2016). Participatory and Multi-Criteria Analysis for Forest (Ecosystem) Management: A Case Study of Pohorje, Slovenia. Forest Policy and Economics, Vol.71, No. 1, pp.80-86. Available at: <u>https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/20163346858</u> [Accessed 3 May 2020]

Guerra, E. C., and Cervero, R. (2010). Mass transit and mass: Densities needed to maketransit investments pay off (UCTC Policy Brief 2011-02). Berkeley: University of CaliforniaTransportationCenter.Availableat:https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_cdl_escholarship_oai_escholarship org_ark_13030_gt8gs6x14s

Guerra, E., and Cervero, R. (2011). Cost of a ride. Journal of the American Planning
Association, 77(3), 267-290. Available at: https://ucl-new-
primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_scopus_primary_362206110[Accessed 3 March 2020]

Haezendonck, E. (2007), Introduction: Transport Project Evaluation in a Complex European and Institutional Envrionment. In: Haezendonck, E. (Ed.), Transport Project Evaluation -Extending the Social Cost–Benefit Approach. Edward Elgar, pp. 1-8. Available at: <u>https://ucl-</u> <u>new-</u>

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_1016_j_jtr angeo_2009_06_004 [Accessed 6 June 2020]

Hall, P. (1966). The world cities. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Hartley, N. and Wood, C. (2005). Public Participation in Environmental Impact Assessment -Implementing the Aarhus Convention. Environment Impact Assessment Review, Vol. 25, pp.319–340.Availableat:https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_osti_scitechconnect_20713474[Accessed 12 May 2020]

Heritage MK (2017) MK50 A New City Comes to Life, Arts Council England, Print

Hickman, R., Ashiru, O., and Banister, D. (2009). Achieving carbon-efficient transportation: Backcasting from London. Transportation Research Record, 2139(5), 172-182. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u>

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_3141_213 9_20 [Accessed 12 March 2020]

Hickman, R. (2016). Incomplete Cost – Incomplete Benefit Analysis in Transport Appraisal. Paper presented at the 'Universities' Transport Studies Groups 48th Annual Conference', Bristol, UK, January 6-8.

Hickman, R., Bonilla, D., Givoni, M. and Banister, D. (2015) Handbook on Transport and Development / Edited by Robin Hickman, David Bonilla, Moshe Givoni and David Banister. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Pub.,. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u> primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/5qfvbu/UCL LMS DS51224835590004761 [Accessed 24 June 2020]

Hickman, R., Banister, D. (2014). Transport, Climate Change and the City. London: Routledge, Available at: <u>https://doi-org.libproxy.ucl.ac.uk/10.4324/9780203074435</u> [Accessed 17 June 2020]

HILL, M. (1966). A Method For Evaluating Alternative Plans: The Goals-achievement Matrix Applied To Transportation Plans (Order No. 6610621). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (302225159). Available from: <u>https://search-proquestcom.libproxy.ucl.ac.uk/docview/302225159?accountid=14511</u> [Accessed 17 June 2020] Hill, M. (1968). A Goals-Achievement Matrix for Evaluating Alternative Plans. Journal of the American Institute of Planners, Vol. 34, No.1, pp. 19-29.Available at <u>https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_1080_019</u> 44366808977215 [Accessed 18 June 2020]

Hill, M. (1973). Planning for Multiple Objectives – An Approach to the Evaluation of Transport Plans. Technion.

Hirshman, E. (1995) "Decision Processes in Recognition Memory." Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition 21.2 (1995): 302-13. Available at:. <u>https://ucl-new-</u>

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_proquest_journals_614318483 [Accessed 19 July 2020]

ITP (2019) MK2050 Growth Study, Mobility and Mass Rapid Transit study. Available at https://ddd3d78e-749e-4b55-9eee-

73303fdcb896.filesusr.com/ugd/02d3f7_f30afad72eaf42aa996741eb44542ead.pdf [Accessed 5 March 2020]

Jacobs, J. (1961). The Death and Life of Great American Cities. New York: Vintage Books.

Jeffery, R. (2012) 'The centrality of Milton Keynes' in Campaigning for Twentieth Century Architecture - Journal 10: The Seventies. London: The Twentieth Century Society.

Jeffreys, I. (2004). The Use of Compensatory and Non-compensatory Multi-Criteria Analysis for Small-scale Forestry. Small-scale Forest Economics, Management and Policy, Vol. 3, NO.1, pp. 99-117. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u> primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_springer_primary_11842_2004_ Article 7 pdf [Accessed 17 June 2020]

Journal of Environmental Assessment Policy Management, Vol. 9, No. 2, pp. 161–83. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u> primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_gale_infotracacademiconefile_A <u>462778359 [Accessed 20 June 2020]</u>

Kilgour, D.M., Chen, Y. and Hipel, K.W. (2010). Multiple Criteria Approaches to Group Decision and Negotation. In: Ehrgott, M., Figueira, J.R. and Greco, S. (Eds.), Trends in Multiple Criteria Decision Analysis. Springer, pp. 317-338.

Köksalan, M.M., Wallenius, J. and Zionts, S. (2011). Multiple Criteria Decision Making: From Early History to the 21st Century. World Scientific Publishing. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/5qfvbu/UCL_LMS_DS21157504790004761</u> [Accessed 6 June 2020]

Lambert, J. H., Karvetski, C. W., Spencer, D. K., Sotirin, B. J., Liberi, D. M., Zaghloul, H. H., Koogler, J. B., Hunter, S. L., Goran, W. D., Ditmer, R. D., and Linkov, I. "Prioritizing Infrastructure Investments in Afghanistan with Multiagency Stakeholders and Deep Uncertainty of Emergent Conditions." Journal of Infrastructure Systems 18.2 (2012): 155-66. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u> primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_1061__AS CE_IS_1943_555X_0000078 [Accessed 16 May 2020]

Lu, J., Zhang, G., Ruan, D. and Wu, F. (2007). Multiple Objective Group Decision Making – Methods, Software and Application with Fuzzy Set Techniques. Imperial College Press.

Lynch, K. (1961). The pattern of the metropolis. Daedalus, Winter, 79-98.

Lynch, K. (1972). What time is this place? Cambridge: MIT Press.

Macharis, C., and Bernardini, A., "Reviewing the Use of Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis for the Evaluation of Transport Projects: Time for a Multi-actor Approach." Transport Policy 37 (2015): 177-86. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/primoexplore/fulldisplay?docid=TN_elsevier_sdoi_10_1016_j_tranpol_2014_11_002&context=PC &vid=UCL_VU2&lang=en_US&search_scope=CSCOP_UCL&adaptor=primo_central_multipl e_fe&tab=local&query=any,contains,Macharis%202015&offset=0 [Accessed 6 June 2020]</u>

Macharis, C. and Nijkamp, P. (2011). Possible Bias in Multi-Actor Multi-Criteria Transportation Evaluation: Issues and Solutions. Research Memorandum 2011-31. Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, VU University Amsterdam. Available at: <u>https://research.vu.nl/files/2901506/rm%202011-31.pdf</u>. [Accessed 17 June 2020]

Macharis, C. and Pekin, E. "Assessing Policy Measures for the Stimulation of IntermodalTransport: A GIS-based Policy Analysis." Journal of Transport Geography 17.6 (2009): 500-08.Availableat:https://ucl-new-207286609 [Accessed 19 July 2020]

Macharis, C., Springael, J., De Brucker, K. and Verbeke, A. "PROMETHEE and AHP: The Design of Operational Synergies in Multicriteria Analysis.: Strengthening PROMETHEE with Ideas of AHP." European Journal of Operational Research 153.2 (2004): 307-17. Available at: <u>https://www-sciencedirect-com.libproxy.ucl.ac.uk/science/article/pii/S037722170300153X</u> [Accessed 2 June 2020]

Macharis. C., Turcksin. L., and Lebeau. K. (2015) Multi actor multi criteria analysis (MAMCA) as a tool to support sustainable decisions: State of use. Vrije Universiteit Brussel, MOBI, MOSI-T, Pleinlaan 2, 1050, Brussels, Belgium. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167923612002047?via%3Dihub</u> [Accessed 5 March 2020]

Mars, T. (1992) 'Little Los Angeles in Bucks', Architects Journal, 195, 15, pp. 22-6.

Massey, D. (1993) Power-geometry and a progressive sense of Place. In Bird. J., Curtis, B., Putnam, T., Robertson, G. Mapping the Future: Local Cultures, Global Change, Routledge, London, 59-69.

McAllister, D.M. (1982). Evaluation in Environmental Planning: Assessing Environmental, Social, Economic and Political Trade-Offs. The MIT Press.

 Mees, P. (2010). Transport for suburbia : beyond the automobile age. London: Earthscan.

 Available
 at:
 <u>https://ucl-new-</u>

 primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_askewsholts_vlebooks_9781849
 774659 [Accessed 4 April 2020]

Metz, D. (2008). The Myth of Travel Time Saving. Transport Reviews, Vol. 28, No. 3, pp. 321-336.Availableat:<u>https://ucl-new-</u>primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_1080_01441640701642348 [Accessed 6 June 2020]

Milton Keynes Council (2019) Plan MK Available at: <u>https://tinyurl.com/y57b8fr7</u> [Accessed 4 March 2020]

Milton Keynes Council (2019) Transport Infrastructure Delivery Plan. WSP. Available at https://www.milton-keynes.gov.uk/assets/attach/62433/Transport-Infrastructure-Delivery-Plan-October-2019.pdf [Accessed 30 March 2020]

Milton Keynes (2019) Milton Keynes Sustainability Strategy. Available at <u>https://tinyurl.com/yaop2pvc</u> [Accessed 5 March 2020]

Milton Keynes (2019) MK Futures 2050 report. Available at <u>https://www.mkfutures2050.com</u> [Accessed 5 March 2020]

Rydin Y. (1993) The British Planning System An Introduction . Kent: Mackays of Chatham Plc . Print (p. 27-28)

Munda, G. (1995). Multicriteria Evaluation in a Fuzzy Environment - Theory and Applications in Ecological Economics. Springer.

Munda, G. (2004). Social Multi-Criteria Evaluation: Methodological Foundations and Operational Consequences. European Journal of Operational Research, Vol. 158, No. 3, pp 662–677. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u> primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_gale_infotracacademiconefile_A 121048202 [Accessed 20 March 2020]

 Munda, G. (2008). Social Multi-Criteria Evaluation for a Sustainable Economy. Springer.

 Available
 at:
 <u>https://ucl-new-</u>

 primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/5qfvbu/UCL_LMS_DS71316298140004761
 [Accessed 19 June 2020]

Næss, P. (2006). Cost-Benefit Analyses of Transportation Investments: Neither Critical nor Realistic. Journal of Critical Realism, Vol. 5, No. 1, 32-60. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u> <u>primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_1558_jocr</u> <u>v5i1_32 [Accessed 18 May 2020]</u>

Newman, P. W. G., and Kenworthy, J. R. "Gasoline Consumption and Cities." Journal of the American Planning Association 55.1 (1989): 24-37. Available at. <u>https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN cdi gale businessinsightsgauss A6</u> 948454 [Accessed 24 July 2020]

Newman, Kenworthy, and Kenworthy, J. R. Sustainability and Cities: Overcoming Automobile Dependence / Peter Newman, Jeffrey Kenworthy. 1999. Print.

OMEGA Centre (2010). Incorporating Principles of Sustainable Development within the Design and Delivery of Major Projects: An International Study with Particular Reference to
Major Infrastructure Projects for the Institution of Civil Engineering and the ActuarialProfession.UniversityCollegeLondon.Availableat:http://www.omegacentre.bartlett.ucl.ac.uk [Accessed 4 July 2020]

OMEGA Centre (2011). Lessons for Decision-makers: A Comparative Analysis of Selected Large- scale Transport Infrastructure Projects in Europe, USA and Asia-Pacific. University College London. Available at <u>http://www.omegacentre.bartlett.ucl.ac.uk</u> [Accessed 4 July 2020]

OMEGA Centre (2012). Lessons for Decision-makers: A Comparative Analysis of Selected Large- scale Transport Infrastructure Projects in Europe, USA and Asia-Pacific - Executive Summary. University College London. Available at: <u>http://www.omegacentre.bartlett.ucl.ac.uk</u> [Accessed 4 July 2020]

O'Neil P. (2009) Infrastructure Financing and Operation in the Contemporary City. Urban Research Centre University of Western Sydney, Australia

Organisation for Economic Co-operation Development (2003) Content Provider, andInternational Transport Forum. Fifty Years of Transport Policy : Successes, Failures and NewChallenges.Availableat:https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/5qfvbu/UCL_LMS_DS51248233560004761[Accessed 12 June 2020]

Ozernoy, V.M. (1997). Some Fundamental problems in the Selection and Justification of Discrete Alternative MCDM Methods Available at: https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-642-60667-0 11 [Accessed 19 May 2020]

Parkin, J. and Sharma, D. (1999). Infrastructure Planning. Thomas Telford.

Newman P. W. G., & Kenworthy J. R., (1989) Gasoline Consumption and Cities, Journal of the American Planning Association, 55:1, 24-37, DOI: 10.1080/01944368908975398 Available at <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01944368908975398</u> [Accessed 5 March 2020]

Petts, J. (1999a). Environmental Impact Assessment as a Decision Tool. In: Dean. M. (2018) Assessing the Applicability of Participatory Multi-Criteria Analysis Methodologies to the Appraisal of Mega Transport Infrastructure. Ph.D. Dissertation. Available at: <u>https://www.academia.edu/43180035/Assessing_the_Applicability_of_Participatory_Multi_Cr</u> <u>iteria_Analysis_Methodologies_to_the_Appraisal_of_Mega_Transport_Infrastructure</u> [Accessed 12 May 2020] Petts, J. (1999b). Public Participation and Environmental Impact Assessment. In: In: Dean. M. (2018) Assessing the Applicability of Participatory Multi-Criteria Analysis Methodologies to the Appraisal of Mega Transport Infrastructure. Ph.D. Dissertation. Available at: <u>https://www.academia.edu/43180035/Assessing_the_Applicability_of_Participatory_Multi_Cr</u> <u>iteria_Analysis_Methodologies_to_the_Appraisal_of_Mega_Transport_Infrastructure</u> [Accessed 16 July 2020]

Pharoah, T. (2003) Faber Mausell report: Milton Keynes long-term public transport strategy. Available at: <u>http://livingtransport.com/library/pdf.php?id=430</u> [Accessed 30 March 2020]

Pritchard, D (2000) 'On the edge: regenerating a Dublin suburb' CITY 4 (1): 65-80

Saarikoski, H. (2000). EIA Procedure Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) as Collaborative Learning Process. Environmental Impact Assessment Review, Vol. 20, No. 6, pp. 681-700.

Sadler, B. and Verheem, R. (1996). Strategic Environmental Assessment – Status, Challenges and Future Directions. Ministry of Housing, Spatial Planning and the Environment, the Netherlands, and the International Study of Effectiveness of Environmental Assessment.

Salling, K.B., Jensen, A.V., and Leleur, S. (2005). COSIMA-DSS Evaluation System: A new Decision Support System for Large-Scale Transport Infrastructure Projects. Paper presented at 10th Jubilee Meeting of the EURO Working Group on Transportation 'Advances in Modeling, Optimization and Management of

Transportation Processes and Systems - Theory and Practice' and 16th Mini-EURO Conference 'Artificial Intelligence in Transportation'. Poznan, Poland. Publishing House of Poznan University of Technology, 2005. p. 601-607.

Schutte, I.C. (2010). The Appraisal of Transport Infrastructure Projects in the Municipal Sphere of Government in South Africa, with Reference to the City of Tshwane. Ph.D. Dissertation. Department of Transport Economics, Logistics and Tourism. University of South Africa. Available at: <u>https://www.ajol.info/index.php/sabr/article/view/85469/75400. [Accessed 25 March 2020]</u>

Scherer, M., and Dziekan, K. (2012) "Bus or Rail: An Approach to Explain the Psychological Rail Factor." Journal of Public Transportation 15.1 (2012): 75-93. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u>

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_5038_237 5_0901_15_1_5 [Accessed 5 September 2020]

Selltiz, C, Jahoda, M., Deutsch, M. and Cook, S. W. (1965). Research Methods in Social Relations. Holt, Rinehart & Winston.

Senécal, P., Goldsmith, B., Conover, S., Sadler, B. and Brown, K. (1999). Principles of Environmental Impact Assessment - Best Practice. Fargo: International Association for Impact Assessment. Available at: <u>https://elimpactoambiental.files.wordpress.com/2008/11/principles20of20ia_web.pdf</u> [Accessed 12 March 2020]

Sewell, D.W.R. and Coppock, J.T. (1977). A Perspective on Public Participation in Planning. In: Sewell, D.W.R. and Coppock, J.T. (Eds.), Public Participation in Planning. John Wiley & Sons, pp. 1-14.

Sharot, T. (2011). The optimism bias. Current Biology, 21(23), R941-R945. Available at: https://ucl-new-

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN cdi gale infotracacademiconefile A 274654071 [Accessed 13 May 2020]

Sijtsma, F.J. (2006). Project Evaluation, Sustainability and Accountability – Combining Cost-Benefit Analysis (CBA) and Multi-Criteria Analysis (MCA). Ph.D. Dissertation. Department of Economics, University of Groningen. Available at: <u>https://www.waddenacademie.nl/fileadmin/inhoud/pdf/06-</u> wadweten/Proefschriften/Thesis Sytsma.pdf [Accessed 12 June 2020]

Sinden, J. A. and Thampapillai, D.J. (1995). Introduction to Benefit-Cost Analysis. Longman.

Snell, M. (1997). Cost Benefit Analysis for Engineers and Planners. Thomas Telford Ltd.

Soria-Lara, J.A., Bertolini, L. and te Brömmelstroet, M. (2015). Environmental Impact Assessment in Urban Transport Planning: Exploring Process-Related Barriers in Spanish Practice. Environmental Impact Assessment Review, Vol. 50, No. 1, pp. 95-104. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u>

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_osti_scitechconnect_22447506 [Accessed 3 March 2020] Stewart, J. and Sinclair, A. (2007). Meaningful Public Participation in Environmental Assessment: Perspectives from Canadian Participants, Proponents and Government.

Stirling, A. (1998). Risk at a Turning Point? Journal of Risk Research, Vol. 1, No. 2, pp. 97-109.Availableat:<u>https://ucl-new-</u>primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_1080_136698798377204 [Accessed 11 August 2020]

Stirling, A. and Mayer, S. (1999) Rethinking Risk: A Pilot Multi-criteria Mapping of a Genetically Modified Crop in Agricultural Systems in the UK. Science and Technology Policy Research, University of Sussex, Brighton, Sussex.

Stirling, and S. Mayer. (2000) "A Precautionary Approach to Technology Appraisal? - A Multicriteria Mapping of Genetic Modification in UK Agriculture." TATuP - Zeitschrift Für Technikfolgenabschätzung in Theorie Und Praxis. Available at <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167923612002047?via%3Dihub</u>

[Accessed 20 April 2020]

Stirling, A. and Mayer, S. (2001). A Novel Approach to the Appraisal of Technological Risk: A Multicriteria Mapping Study of a Genetically Modified Crop. Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy, Vol. 19, No. 4, pp. 529-555. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_1068_c8s</u> [Accessed 12 May 2020]

Stirling, and S. Mayer. "A Precautionary Approach to Technology Appraisal? - A Multi-criteria Mapping of Genetic Modification in UK Agriculture." TATuP - Zeitschrift Für Technikfolgenabschätzung in Theorie Und Praxis 9.3 (2000): TATuP - Zeitschrift Für Technikfolgenabschätzung in Theorie Und Praxis, 01 September 2000, Vol.9(3). Web. ? Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167923612002047?via%3Dihub [Accessed 1 April 2020]

TfL (2017) Healthy Streets for London [online]. Available at: http://content.tfl.gov.uk/healthystreets-for-london.pdf [accessed 09 July 2020]

TheSkeffingtonReport,publishedin1969Availableat:http://www.communityplanning.cooperative.website/archives/definitionsheet/skeffington-report[Accessed 12 May 2020]

76

Townshend, T., & Lake, A. (2009). Obesogenic urban form: Theory, policy and practice. Health & Place, 15(4), 909-916. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u> primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_gale_infotracacademiconefile_A 206848254 [Accessed 1 May 2020]

Townshend, T., & Lake, A. (2016). Obesogenic environments: Current evidence of the built and food environments. Perspectives in Public Health, 137(1), 38-44. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u>

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN cdi proquest journals 1858600681 [Accessed 12 June 2020]

Townshend, T. G. (2017). Toxic high streets. Journal of Urban Design, 22(2), 167-186.Availableat:https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_crossref_primary_10_1080_13574809_2015_1106916 [Accessed 22 June 2020]

Triantphyllou, E. and Mann, H. (1989). An Examination of the Effectiveness of Multi-Dimensional Decision-Making Methods: A Decision-Making Paradox. Decision Support Systems, Vol 5, pp. 303-312.

Tzoulas, K., Korpela, K., Venn, S, Yli-Pelkonen, V., Kazmierczak, A., Niemela, J, and James, P. (2007). Promoting ecosystem and human health in urban areas using green infrastructure: A literature review. Landscape and Urban Planning, 81(3), 167-178. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u>

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_gale_infotracacademiconefile_A 164112433 [Accessed 12 May 2020]

Van der Heijden, K. 1996. Scenarios: The Art of Strategic Conversation, Chichester: John Wiley.

Van Wee, B. (2012). How Suitable is CBA for the Ex-Ante Evaluation of Transport Projectsand Policies? A Discussion from the Perspective of Ethics. Transport Policy, Vol. 19, No. 1,pp.1-7.Availableat:https://www-sciencedirect-com.libproxy.ucl.ac.uk/science/article/pii/S0967070X11000886 [Accessed 22 July 2020]

Vickerman, R. and Evenhuis, E. (2010) Transport Pricing and Public-Private Partnerships in Theory: Issues and Suggestions. Research in Transportation Economics 30.1 (2010): 6-14.

Web. Available at : <u>https://www-sciencedirect-com.libproxy.ucl.ac.uk/journal/research-in-</u> <u>transportation-economics/vol/30/issue/1 [Accessed 10 May 2020]</u>

VUB (2019) Multi Actor Multi Criteria Analysis (MAMCA) Web Tool MOBI - Mobility, Logistics and Automotive Technology Research Centre, Vrije Universiteit Brussel. Available at: <u>http://www.mamca.be/en/workshop/online-mamca-workshop/</u>[Accessed 20 February 2020]

Walker, J. (2012) Human Transit : How Clearer Thinking About Public Transit Can Enrich OurCommunitiesandOurLives.IslandPress;Availableat:http://search.ebscohost.com.libproxy.ucl.ac.uk/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,shib&db=nlebk&AN=411021&site=ehost-live&scope=site[Accessed 6 September 2020]

Wainwright. O (2014) The garden city movement: from Ebenezer to Ebbsfleet. Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/artanddesign/architecture-design-blog/2014/mar/17/ebbsfleet-garden-city-george-osborne</u> [Accessed 5 March 2020]

Ward, E.J., Dimitriou, H.T., Wright, P. and Dean, M. (2016). Application of Policy-Led Multi-Criteria Analysis to the Appraisal of the Northern Line Extension, London. Research in Transportation Economics, Special Edition, Vol. 58, pp. 46-8

Wegener, M. and Fürst, F. 1999. Land-use Transport Integration: State of the Art (Deliverable 2a, TRANSLAND), Dortmund: University of Dortmund, European Commission FP4.

Williamson, A. and Archon, F. (2004). Political Deliberation: Where We Are and Where We Can Go? National Civic Review, Winter 2004. pp, 3-15.Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_gale_infotracacademiconefile_A</u> 130282593 [Accessed 12 June 2020]

Wickramasinghe V, Takano S. (2009) Application of combined SWOT and analytic hierarchy process (AHP) for tourism revival strategic marketing planning: A Case of Sri Lanka tourism. Journal of the Eastern Asia Society for Transportation Studies; 8: 954-969. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-</u>

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN_cdi_jstage_primary_00361161099 [Accessed 10 April 2020]

Wolfe, R.A. and Putler, D.S. (2002). How Tight are the Ties that Bind Stakeholder Groups? Organization Science, Vol. 13, No. 1, pp. 64-80. Available at: <u>https://ucl-new-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/1klfcc3/TN cdi proquest journals 213834287</u> [Accessed 11 July 2020]

Wray, I. (2016). Milton keynes: The making of a new city. Geography, 101, 116-124. Available
 <u>https://search-proquest-com.libproxy.ucl.ac.uk/docview/2083653161?accountid=14511</u>
 [Accessed 5 March 2020]

Wright. L. and Fjellstrom. K (2003) Sustainable Transport: A Sourcebook for Policy-makers in
Developing Cities Module 3a: Mass Transit Options. Institute for Transportation and
Development Policy). Available at:
https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/113/1/Mass_Rapid_Transit_guide, GTZ_Sourcebook, Fi
nal, Feb 2003, Printable version.pdf [Accessed 5 March 2020]

Yavuz, F., Baycan. T. (2013) Use of Swot and Analytic Hierarchy Process Integration as a Participatory Decision-Making Tool in Watershed Management. Procedia Technology. Elsevier. Available at: <u>https://tinyurl.com/y5oojtet</u> [Accessed 5 March 2020]

10. Appendix

10.1. Appendix A: Workshop: Briefing



UNIVERSITY COLLEGE LONDON

FACULTY OF THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT

BARTLETT SCHOOL OF PLANNING

Disclaimer: This workshop is conducted as part of data gathering exercise for my dissertation in MSc Transport and City planning at UCL. All responses provided during this workshop are anonymous and will only be used for research purposes. Data will be processed in compliance with GDPR. Results of this work will be shared with Milton Keynes Council, by whom I am employed and who is sponsoring my final year tuition fees, however this is not council led research.

Dissertation topic: Appraisal of Mass Rapid Transit (MRT) systems options for Milton Keynes using a participatory (Multi Actor) Multi Criteria Analysis (MAMCA).

The purpose of these workshops is to gather different stakeholder views on objectives for MRT and to incorporate them in a Multi-Criteria Analysis (MCA) to conduct a holistic appraisal of possible options. The overall aim of this research is to test if a fully participatory MCA is suitable for appraising a major transport scheme like MRT.

Background information and reason for choosing this topic.

Climate change has urged a number of cities, including Milton Keynes, to commit to zero carbon targets, but not many have a clear action plan to implement it. By 2050 Milton Keynes is expected to double in size to accommodate 500,000 residents and the Mass Rapid Transit (MRT) system is planned to accommodate this growth in a sustainable way. But what kind of transport system can meet all of these targets and the other objectives of Milton Keynes?

The latest MRT studies (ITP 2019 and Transport Infrastructure Delivery Plan (TIDP), 2019) did not fully cover local social, environmental and economic factors and appraisal techniques used had a number of weaknesses including limited or absent stakeholder engagement. All these factors can make it difficult to make a fully informed decision on the future of the town's transport.

Multi-Actor Multi-Criteria Assessment (MAMCA) (also known as participatory MCA) entails consulting with several stakeholder groups with different views throughout all stages of appraisal making this technique the most far reaching appraisal technique available to date. It can assist in providing the most widely acceptable transport solution.

Workshop

Each session will take 1-1.5h and will be delivered via Microsoft Teams where I will share my screen to deliver a presentation on issues affecting Milton Keynes, previous MRT studies and MRT options followed by the main activity, a **multi-stage** appraisal exercise done using a online MAMCA tool: https://mamca.vub.be/. Stages are:

Stage 1	Choose 3 MRT options to appraise (from section a.)
Stage 2	Choose objectives/criteria (from section b.)
Stage 3	Weight each objective (100 points to distribute in total)
Stage 4	Score the MRT options against the bespoke MCA using a 10-point system

a. Mass Rapid Transit Options

и.	1111133	Tup	
Bus Ra	pid Trar	nsit (E	RT)

involves busway corridors on segregated lanes – either at-grade or grade separated – and modernised buses				electric rights-of boards/c at track	railway system , often f-way at ground level, discharges passengers or car floor level
Bus Rapid Transit light Some bus priority infrastructure, cheaper than BRT, less frequent service				Tram Li rail syste smaller	ght (Very Light Rail) – em, battery operated vehicles
Monorail – elevated rail system, independent from other traffic, road or pedestrians.				Metro e with high frequent indepen road or	lectric transport system h capacity and high cy of service, dent from other traffic, pedestrians.
NON –MRT: Demand Responsive Autonomous pods			?	Other o Tram Tra Metro Li Flying ca	ptions ain ght ars
b. Suggested o	riteria/objectives				
	Sugg	ested Criter	ia/Objec	tives	
Transport and Planning	Environmental	Economic	Social		Suitability
1. Supports growth (500,000+)	1. Carbon zero target	1. Cost of the system	1. Ease of read	hina	1 Eitewith level

- Additional information:
- 1. Indicative costs and benefits of these options (subjective)

С	Costs, be	nefits, comp	atibility – J	Analysťs v	iew					
	Cost per km	Priority over other modes	Capacity (passeng er numbers)	Coverage (number of km of infrastructur e)	Can be autonomo us?	Accessibil ity (disabilitie s/elderly)	Comfort (seating arrangements, ride quality, acceleration /deceleration n)	Catalyst for growth/de nsification/ economic prosperity/ regenerati on	Suitability for MK (size, structure)	Environmen tal improveme nt (how clean is the system/potent ial to reduce car use)
BRT	II	Ш	Ш	Ш	yes	Ш	П	Ш	Ш	II
BRT light	I	I	Ш	Ш	no	П	I	I	1111	1
Tram	Ш	IIII	Ш	II	yes	IIII	1111	III	II	II
Metro	11111	11111	1111	I	yes	I	П	1111	I	II
Monorail	1111	11111	1111	I	yes	I	1111	1111	I	II
Light Tram	Ш	III	Ш	Ш	yes	Ш	II	II	III	II
Autonomous pods	III	-	I		yes	III	III	I		I
Other										
		I	Ш	1	II	III	II	II		
		Low	Moderate		High	Very High	E	ktremely High	9	

2. Public Transport – SWOT analysis (based on evidence and local policy review)

Strengths	Weaknesses
 Strong political will to address climate change issues, including transport Commitment to be carbon neutral by 2030 MK Futures 2050 work and evidence on the need to deliver MRT and address transport inequality Wide roads, lots of space for Public Transport (PT) priority Good provision of infrastructure for PT – 6 stations, 2 Bus hubs Good location, economic hub that attracts visitors Space for flexible development of MK and continuous growth Centre for technology and transport innovation 	 Extremely high car usage, car dependency, ample parking (city for cars) High car parking standards in new developments Limited PT provision, short operating times, low frequencies Low bus usage and declining user satisfaction Unreliable bus service, long travel times, indirect routes Lack or integration between transport modes, especially at the key transport hubs Due to low densities, many routes are not commercially viable, high subsidies are required to run services Outdated infrastructure – bus priority lanes and bus shelters Limited availability of PT in some areas of the borough and transport inequality + social injustice
opportunitio	111000

- Growth & Mass Rapid Transit & East West Rail
- Regeneration of older estates present new opportunities to improve PT
- Income from future and planned developments
- Upgrade train stations and interchanges
- Integration between PT modes community transport, Demand Responsive Transport (DRT) and taxis
- Manage PT schemes better, better use of finances from parking revenue to support
- Better facilities for PT
- Car parking restrictions, demand management and P&Rs

- Failure to manage car traffic can result in more congestion, further decline in PT, risk to lose more commercial routes
- Economic climate post Covid-19
- Low quality service is discouraging PT use and pushing more people to buy cars
- New developments will generate more traffic due to high car parking standards, location of the new housing and the layout of the town
- Good Demand Responsive Transport and taxi service can further weaken infrequent and indirect bus routes
- Unrealistic targets (MRT, Zero Carbon) vs limited resources and lack of proactivity to deliver major changes in public transport

10.2. Appendix B: Stakeholder analysis

Table1 Stakeholder analysis (Author's own)

	Group	Participants job title	Car	Local
			owner?	to MK
4	Transactularia		Vaa	Maa
1	i ransport planners	Team manager Transport Policy	Yes	Yes
	(internal)	Public Transport Manager	Yes	Yes
		Smarter Travel Transport Planner	Yes	No
		Trainee Transport Planner	Yes	Yes
2	Transport experts	Associate Director Future Mobility, WSP	Yes	No
	(external)	Highways England,	Yes	No
		Nextbike	Yes	No
		Energy Saving Trust, Mooveit	Yes	No
3	Environmental/Sus	Cycling Forum MK, Chair	Yes	Yes
	tainable	Cycling Forum, member and	Yes	Yes
	Transport Focus	Environmentalist/Economist		
		UK Tram	Yes	No
		Electric Vehicle Experience Centre	Yes	Yes
		Electric Vehicle Experience Centre	Yes	Yes
4	Young People	Young People Network, MK Development	Yes	Yes
		Partnership	No	No
		Youth Cabinet Member , MKC	Yes	Yes
		Transport Policy Administrator	Yes	Yes
5	Centre for	CIL Chair and former Jubilee Line extension	Yes	Yes
	Integrated Living	Design and Delivery Manager		
	(CIL) focus on			

	disabilities and			
	social equality			
6	Bus User Group –	Chair of Bus User Group Phd MBA	Yes	Yes
Ĭ				100
	existing bus users	Deputy Chair of Buse User Group	Yes	Yes
		Former Chair of Bus User Group	Yes	Yes
7	Business	National Transport Manager (INTU)	Yes	No
	representative/Arc	Architect Gants	Ves	Ves
	hitects/Urban	Architect, Gants	163	163
	Designers/Develop	Urban Movement, Principal Design Architect	Yes	No
	ers	Technical Director, Bovis Homes		
			Yes	No
8	Academia	Professor of Transport (UCL)	Yes	No
		Lecturer in Transport and Housing (UCL)	Yes	No

10.3. Appendix B – Detailed analysis of each of the workshops

Group1: Transport Planners

Firstly, this participatory MCA approach was tested on my colleagues, MKC Transport Planners. This group selected BRT, Tram Light and Non-BRT modes to appraise. This group was well informed about previous studies. Weights have been allocated evenly across the five objectives, prioritising social factors over suitability slightly (25 and 15 points respectively.)

Figure 1 Transport Planners



Weight of Criteria: Transport Planners (Internal)

This group prioritised the ability of MRT system to achieve the following sub-objectives:

- Support growth (50points)
- Carbon zero target (60points)

• Reduce transport inequality (60points)

Overall BRT scored higher than Tram-L, as group felt that BRT would be significantly more suitable for MK (Suitability objective).

Although discussion took place about the importance of the aesthetics of the system and it was acknowledged that buses are the least attractive option on the list, the weight allocated to this objective was quite low and scores across three options very similar, meaning that the group's scores did not reflect their views on aesthetics. Participants admitted that familiarity with previous studies which favour BRT and the political will which also favours BRT, it was hard to be rational when scoring the schemes against objectives. Autonomous vehicles (non-MRT) system was scored low across Transport and Planning, Economic and Social objectives and following a full assessment came out as the least suitable option.

Figure 2 Transport Planners

Actor sensitivity analysis: Transport Planners (Internal)



Group's feedback on the method: it gives a good insight into a group's thinking, preferences and opinions. The Group suggested that engagement with larger amount of people would be required to be able to make a rational decision.

Group 2 – External Transport experts

Group 2 was the most open-minded and interactive of all. Given that the participants had never met before, their views and rationales were harmonised from the start, once they had settled on one highly debated matter – costs. At the beginning of the workshop one participant

strongly believed that cost could be the critical objective in the project appraisal, while the other participants disagreed and presented strong arguments to emphasise that there are other, as important objectives that should be included. As we continued with the objective prioritisation exercise, the disagreement evaporated. Participants chose BRT, Tram-L and Non-MRT, and allocated weights across objectives evenly while slightly prioritising environmental objectives over economic as per Figure 3.

Figure 3 External Transport experts



Weight of Criteria: External Transport Experts - Group 2

This group allocated the most weight to the carbon zero target and reduced transport inequality sub-objectives. Tram-L scored the highest as the group acknowledged its potential to support growth, regeneration and bring prosperity to the borough. While the group acknowledged non-MRT mode's potential to bring prosperity to the area, it scored low across the board.

Figure 4 External Transport experts

Actor sensitivity analysis: External Transport Experts - Group 2



Feedback: Great for early scheme appraisal, a good mix of professionals is ideal great for brainstorming.

Group 3 Environmental focus / Sustainable Transport

As it was not possible to survey the Milton Keynes' Environmental Group, supporters of environment/low emission/sustainable transport modes, the members were invited to take part in a focus group. Participants represented UK TRAM, Local Cycling Forum, Milton Keynes based Electric Vehicle Experience Centre (EVEC). One of the participants was a consultant in economic and environmental matters (EVEC) whose employees

were experts in non-MRT (autonomous pods). This knowledge and expertise made the discussion and scoring informed and subsequently interesting. Group 3 selected BRT, Tram-L and non-MRT and prioritised environmental and economic factors.

Figure 5 Environmental focus



Weight of Criteria: Environmental/Sustainable Transport

This group focused on the practical aspects of MRT systems, such as comfort, travel times and speed, cost, practical feasibility/buildability and the overall impact on the safety of the City Carbon zero emission targets also scored high. The cost of the system was not necessarily seen as a disadvantage. The economist/environmentalist of the group acknowledged that "cost of the transport system can be offset by the benefits that it brings". The group strongly favoured a rail-based system in a sense that it is likely to bring more benefits. One of the most interesting discussions in this group was about risks associated with each of the system, where it has been concluded that doing minimum or nothing is the safest option,

however doing maximum brings the most benefits. Conversation evolved around tracks for the tram and it being a more difficult, complex and above all a high-risk project.

Figure 6 Environmental focus





This group provided great insight and expertise on autonomous vehicles, where previous groups scored them very high in terms of comfort and where it gets you, this group having regularly experienced the service, scored it fairly low on this and other factors. The debate about the cost and benefits of each of the systems confirmed the author's disagreement with the assumption that BRT and Tram/Tram-L have the same benefits.

Some discussion took place about integration between MRT system and cyclists and while it is not possible to take a bike on board, the integration between the modes is important in terms of having a pedestrian/cycle access and parking near stations. Feedback: enjoyable, but too many objectives.

Group 4: Young professionals and Youth

This group selected Monorail, Tram-L and BRT. Reason for choosing monorail was because the original plan of Milton Keynes proposed it and the group wanted to explore the feasibility of this system. They believed that it would be a unique selling point that would attract visitors and tourists to the innovative and futuristic Milton Keynes. Youth strongly prioritised environmental and social objectives.

Figure 7 Youth: weights

Weight of Criteria: Youth



Sub-objectives were given reasonably well-balanced importance, with no evident priority given to any of the factors. Economic factors including new jobs and business growth and reduced unemployment scored in total 80 points leaving cost of the system minor concern at 20 points. Tram-L scored the highest, followed by a monorail and BRT came last. Group scored rail-based systems higher on carbon zero target, aesthetics, ability to attract car drivers, and economic benefits. Monorail scored extremely high in the following sub-objectives: priority over private cars, new jobs and businesses and futureproof/technology and automation. But it scored low on social objectives, in particular, the system's ability to serve the most vulnerable adults and cover large areas (connectivity).

Figure 8 Youth: scores





Group 4 further stated that the cost of a ticket would be important to them. This was not included as a sub-objective as it would not have helped to appraise the scheme. Operational matters were originally excluded from the equation.

One of the most unexpected suggestions was to scrap the new MRT system, and invest instead in the existing bus network to operate frequent services along the grid roads (i.e. rapid bus service on every grid road, direct and fast). This suggestion was made before researching Jarrett

Walker's "Human Transit", which argues that the most effective transit network is the one that is operating along the grid system, and is frequent and reliable (transfer-based system where you need to change only once to get to you destination). Feedback: effective, thorough – great as it is participatory, and gets opinions

Group 5 Centre for Integrated Living (CIL)

This group consisted of one participant only. The participant represented the views of people with disabilities and his professional experience included work on Jubilee line extension (former design and delivery manager). The modes selected were Tram-L, non-MRT and DLR-alike system (new system). This person prioritised economic objectives, though the cost sub-objective was completely excluded. The participant explained as a user, the cost of the system should not matter. He also scored transport and planning objectives slightly higher than the rest of the objectives.

Figure 29 CIL: weights

Weight of Criteria: CIL



In terms of sub-objectives, travel speed of the system along with the safety of the system (new) were prioritised. Emphasis was placed on the ease of reaching the system (especially for vulnerable people). Though, the participant emphasised that that all modes can be accessible if designed properly. From the graph below it is evident that this group did not think that link between future MRT and environmental issues is particularly strong, which explains why all options scored low against environmental objectives. Since there was only one participant it was evident that he had bias towards one of the options – DLR, which scored higher on majority of the aspects. Non-MRT mode scored higher only on feasibility/buildability aspect.

Figure 10 CIL: scores

Actor sensitivity analysis: CIL



Critique: the participant described methodology as restrictive (having pre-offered objectives restricted thinking and limited creativity) added safety of the system as an additional objective and excluded cost of the system (as a user this should not be a concern).

Group 6 – Bus User Group (BUG)

This group chose BRT, BRT-L and Tram-L. The group was invited to focus on BUG's issues, like reliability of the public transport and attraction of car users, rather than taking the ultimate decision. This was a most interesting group allocation of points across the objectives: only five points were allocated to the economic objective (meaning cost), while suitability and transport and planning objectives were given 30 points each. *Figure 11 Bus User Group: weights*



Weight of Criteria: Bus User Group

The group prioritised travel times and speed, meeting travel demands/gets people to their destinations sub-objectives – both serious issues for bus users at present. Further discussed took place about issues around bus routes, particularly, that they are monocentric while the town is polycentric. Group also discussed structural disadvantages and stressed that these should be acknowledged when implementing any of the systems. Furthermore, political risks were flagged up (i.e. turning a bus lane into parking spaces, as happened in Milton Keynes in the past, and

not implementing full BRT). Operational costs were excluded which group didn't like. The biggest surprise of this study was a bus user group supporting light rail. Tram-L scored significantly higher than BRT across several objectives, especially environmental objectives.

Figure 30 Bus User Group: scores

Actor sensitivity analysis: Bus User Group



Feedback: Valuable tool to open a communication between people, challenging each other perceptions/misperceptions. Informal - Digging deep, making them work hard. Suggestion to get decision makers to take part in this. Critique – in MK wrong people get to decide the destiny for the town, get decision makers to do this study + few other groups.

Workshop 7: Business/ Developments/Architects/Urban Designers

The only group whom I told that I favour trams/light rail system, which arguably set a more critical approach to rail-based systems. This was the most diverse group, where contradicting views were present due to different views/professional backgrounds. This was the only team where a single member almost overpowered the discussion. Architect's views in particular have been dismissed the most, in particular when choosing the MRT modes and consequently, when choosing the sub-objectives and allocated the weights. Architect and another participant wanted to select monorail for appraisal simply from aesthetical point of view. The group decided to select BRT-L, Tram-L and Tram. Environmental objectives have been prioritised.

Figure 13 Mixed group: weights



Weight of Criteria: Developer/Architect/Business/Urban Design focus

The group modified more objectives than any other group, including moving some of the objectives from Transport and planning group to Suitability – Aesthetics. The group added the following extra sub-objectives:

- Severance
- Connectivity
- Operational costs

Figure 14 Mixed group: scores

Actor average result: Developer/Architect/Business/Urban Design focus



Impact of the new system on Health and Wellbeing has been raised as an important aspect. It was confirmed by the Developer that new projects are prioritising sustainability and that rail-based systems are seen as a more desirable solution to sustainable transport due to being more reliable and potentially attracting more car users, whereas buses are seen as a transport for "lower classes". All options scored fairly close with Tram-L leading followed by a BRT-L and Tram.

Feedback: Businesses – this would have changed if we looked at regional connections. Urban Designer would be nice to see scenario work. Weighting methodology was interesting, it is a planning tool more than anything that takes into consideration a broad spectrum of issues. Cost not being the most important.

Workshop 8: Academia

This group stressed that operational costs are important and that the cost of the system is one of the most important factors. Academia prioritised Transport and Planning and Economic objectives.

Figure 31 Academia: weights

Weight of Criteria: Academia



Figure 16 Academia: scores

Actor average result: Academia



Out of BRT, BRT-L and Tram-L, the latter scored the highest overall. It has been recognised that the cost of the Tram-L is the biggest disadvantage, through higher scored were given on Environmental and Social sub-objectives. Academia stressed the following with regards to the project:

- It is hard to get people out of car as cars remain to be attractive and convenient
- It is easier to do so when there is congestion as it is no longer so attractive (MK doesn't have congestion) Do we leave MRT for now?
- You need to offer people a good alternative, high quality reliable public transport to get them out of cars, conventional buses do not work.
- Costs and income via fees is important, what system could a town of 250,000 to 500,000 afford?

It has been noted that more expensive system can be more beneficial and attract more car users.

The group criticized the method for being arbitrary and not offering a detailed scenario to aid the scoring. It has been requested that further information is presented before scoring is done. Below is an attempt to define the three scenarios:

As discussed, existing bus network is not fit for needs of a poly-centric city. Table below reviews cost of three transport options – BRT, BRT-L and Tram-L. Notes: BRT and Tram-L aim to convert to monocentric routes to polycentric, while BRT-L is mainly building on the existing routes and can use existing vehicles. BRT-L can also exclude costly improvements of the multiple roundabouts by leaving them as they are (although no bus priority will be given). There are two proposed scenarios for the selected systems:

- Infrastructure max to compare costs of the system based on the same parameters (routes, same number of vehicles)
- Infrastructure reasonable functional measures to allow for each of the systems to be operational and productive:



Scenario 1 Maximum infrastructure for all routes 150 km

Vehicles	20	20	20
required			
Roundabou	150	150	150
ts			
(quantity)			
Total cost	£450-750m	£450-750m	£1,5b
infrastructu			
re (ex			
roundb.)			
Roundabou	£975m	£975m (optional)	£975m
ts			
Vehicles	£5m- 10m	£0-5m	£20m
total			
Operational	XXX	XXX	-35%
Costs ²			
TOTAL	£1.4-1.7b	£450 – 755m (+£975 optional)	£2.5bn
capital			

Priority at junctions: £6.5 m for a "Hamburger" style roundabout³.

Scenario 2 – Reasonable infrastructure to ensure effective functioning of each of the systems:

BRT	BRT – L	Tram – L

² Vehicle cost depreciation and maintenance, catenary depreciation and maintenance, labour, fuel, cost of capital. Labour can represent 35-75% operational costs.

³ https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/documents/s25621/Kennington%20Hinksey%20Stage2-ProjectApproval.pdf
Scenario 2 reasonable amount of infrastructu re	Little Lafiford Cotgrove Haversham Haversham Cotgrove Haversham	Puik Holes Casterbore Little Linford Casterbore Little Linford Casterbore Little Linford Casterbore Little Linford Casterbore Little Linford Casterbore Little Linford Casterbore Little Linford Casterbore Little Linford Casterbore Little Linford Casterbore Caster	Great Inford Strand Strand Calverto Upper Wead Thirth Farm Park Calverto Upper Waddon Calverto Upper Waddon Calverto Upper Watton Calverto
Amount of	100km of segregated infrastructure	60km of segregated infrastructure	50km of segregated tram infrastructure
infrastructu			
re Cost of inf	PPT post p/km 62 5m/km	PPT L cost p/km 62 5m/km	Trom Looot n/km £10m/km
Cost of III.	Electric busco £0.25 0.5	Electric busco of old busco 50 0.25	Pottery operated outonomous vehicles
vehicles	Electric buses £0.25 – 0.5		Assume £1m (as its £3m for a full-size tram)
Vehicles required	10	n/a	8 vehicles (operating 24/7)
Roundabo uts (quantity)	100	50 (optional)	50
Total cost infrastructu re (ex roundb.)	£300-500m	£180-300m	£500m
Roundabo	CCEOm	m/a ar C200m	0075

Vehicles	£2,5m- 5m	£0-5m	£8m
total			
Operationa	XXX	XXX	-35%
1			
Costs ⁴			
Total	£1-1,2b	£180 – 305m (optional £390)	£883m ⁵
capital			

⁴ Vehicle cost depreciation and maintenance, catenary depreciation and maintenance, labour, fuel, cost of capital. Labour can represent 35-75% operational costs.

⁵ This sounds too low, so assume we do 75km of rail (3rd circular route to serve Newport Pagnell area) + 2 additional vehicles. Total cost will be £1.1b.

11. Risk assessment form

1

RISK ASSESSMENT FORM FIELD / LOCATION WORK



The Approved Code of Practice - Management of Fieldwork should be referred to when completing this form http://www.ucl.ac.uk/estates/safetynet/guidance/fieldwork/acop.pdf

DEPARTMENT/SECTIONBARTLETT SCHOOL OF PLANNINGLOCATION(S)AGILEPERSONS COVERED BY THE RISK ASSESSMENTViktorija Jersova

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF FIELDWORK

Link does not work, I am not sure what this is asking me.

Consider, in turn, each hazard (white on black). If **NO** hazard exists select **NO** and move to next hazard section.

If a hazard does exist select **YES** and assess the risks that could arise from that hazard in the risk assessment box.

Where risks are identified that are not adequately controlled they must be brought to the attention of your Departmental Management who should put temporary control measures in place or stop the work. Detail such risks in the final section.

ENVIRONMENT The environment always represents a safety hazard. Use space below to identify and assess any risks associated with this hazard

e.g. location, climate, terrain, neighbourhood, in outside organizations, pollution, animals. Examples of risk: adverse weather, illness, hypothermia, assault, getting lost. Is the risk high / medium / low ?

My working environment (home) does not represent environmental risks.

CONTROL MEASURES Indicate which procedures are in place to control the identified risk

work abroad incorporates Foreign Office advice
participants have been trained and given all necessary information
only accredited centres are used for rural field work
participants will wear appropriate clothing and footwear for the specified environment
trained leaders accompany the trip
refuge is available
work in outside organisations is subject to their having satisfactory H&S procedures in place
OTHER CONTROL MEASURES: please specify any other control measures you have implemented:

EMERGENCIES	Where emergencies may arise use space below to identify and assess any risks
e.g. fire, accidents	Examples of risk: loss of property, loss of life Emergencies can happen, I am considering loss of properly, fire and accidents in my place, being locked out of my working space. Medium risk

	participants have registered with LOCATE at http://www.fco.gov.uk/en/travel-and-living-abroad/
Yes	fire fighting equipment is carried on the trip and participants know how to use it
Yes	contact numbers for emergency services are known to all participants
Yes	participants have means of contacting emergency services
Yes	participants have been trained and given all necessary information
	a plan for rescue has been formulated, all parties understand the procedure
	the plan for rescue /emergency has a reciprocal element
Х	OTHER CONTROL MEASURES: please specify any other control measures you have
	implemented: Spare keys made and distributed

FIELDWORK

1

EQUIPMENT	Is equipment used?	YES	If 'No' move to next hazard If 'Yes' use space below to identify and assess any risks
e.g. clothing, outboard motors.	Examples of risk: inappropriate, failure, insufficient training to use or repair, injury. Is the risk high / medium / low ?		

I am using my new Apple Mac for work on my dissertation. It has 2 year warranty, but it can still break. Low risk

CONTROL MEASURES	Indicate which procedures are in place to control the identified risk
------------------	---

	the departmental written Arrangement for equipment is followed
	participants have been provided with any necessary equipment appropriate for the work
yes	all equipment has been inspected, before issue, by a competent person
	all users have been advised of correct use
	special equipment is only issued to persons trained in its use by a competent person
	OTHER CONTROL MEASURES: please specify any other control measures you have
	implemented:
	implemented:

LONE WORKING	Is lone working a possibility? If 'No' move to next hazard If 'Yes' use space below to identify and assess any risks
e.g. alone or in isolation lone interviews.	Examples of risk: difficult to summon help. Is the risk high / medium / low? Low risk I work from home hence lone working is as risky as living on my own. I am not sure what control measures for this could be
CONTROL MEASURES	Indicate which procedures are in place to control the identified risk
the departmental lone or isolated we location, route and Yes all workers have to whistle all workers are ful OTHER CONTRO implemented:	written Arrangement for lone/out of hours working for field work is followed orking is not allowed d expected time of return of lone workers is logged daily before work commences he means of raising an alarm in the event of an emergency, e.g. phone, flare, ly familiar with emergency procedures DL MEASURES: please specify any other control measures you have

ILL HEALTH	The possibility of ill health always represents a safety hazard. Use space below to identify and assess any risks associated with this Hazard.				
e.g. accident, illness, personal attack, special personal considerations or vulnerabilities.	Examples of risk: injury, asthma, allergies. Is the risk high / medium / low? Possibility of III health is High. High Risk Covid 19 has had an impact on my mental health and assignment delays have been affecting me, 3 months to complete a dissertation while working full time is unreasonable time and I am already showing visible signs of anxiety. April 2019 self-referral was made to mental health services. The assessment concluded that I am suffering from "severe anxiety". There is a high risk that pressure at work, pressure at university and covid-19 will affect my work. I have been given advice on how to manage my anxiety.				
CONTROL MEASURES	Indicate which procedures are in place to control the identified risk				
an appropriate all participants participants ha physically suite participants ha encounter participants wh for their needs	number of trained first-aiders and first aid kits are present on the field trip have had the necessary inoculations/ carry appropriate prophylactics have been advised of the physical demands of the trip and are deemed to be ed have been adequate advice on harmful plants, animals and substances they may no require medication have advised the leader of this and carry sufficient medication				
x OTHER CONT implemented: anxiety.	 x OTHER CONTROL MEASURES: please specify any other control measures you have implemented: Self-referred to mental health clinic and sought support to manage my stress and anxiety. 				

TRANSPORT	Will transport be required	NO YES	X	Move to next hazard Use space below to identify and assess any risks
e.g. hired vehicles	Examples of risk: accidents arising from lack of maintenance, suitability or training			
	Is the risk high / medium / low?			

CONTROL	Indicate which procedures are in place to control the identified risk
MEASURES	

only public transport will be used
the vehicle will be hired from a reputable supplier
transport must be properly maintained in compliance with relevant national regulations
drivers comply with UCL Policy on Drivers http://www.ucl.ac.uk/hr/docs/college_drivers.php
drivers have been trained and hold the appropriate licence
there will be more than one driver to prevent driver/operator fatigue, and there will be adequate rest periods
sufficient spare parts carried to meet foreseeable emergencies
OTHER CONTROL MEASURES: please specify any other control measures you have implemented:

DEALING WITH T PUBLIC	HE Will people be dealing with public YES If 'No' move to next hazard If 'Yes' use space below to identify and assess any risks	
e.g. interviews, observing	Examples of risk: personal attack, causing offence, being misinterpreted. Is the risk high / medium / low?	
	Dealing with public will be required as part of the survey process. Low response levels is a high risk,	
CONTROL MEASURES	Indicate which procedures are in place to control the identified risk	
yes all particip interviews yes advice an participan interviews OTHER C implemen	all participants are trained in interviewing techniques interviews are contracted out to a third party advice and support from local groups has been sought participants do not wear clothes that might cause offence or attract unwanted attention interviews are conducted at neutral locations or where neither party could be at risk OTHER CONTROL MEASURES: please specify any other control measures you have implemented:	

FIELDWORK

3

WORKING ON OR NEAR WATER	Will people work on or near water?	NO	If 'No' move to next hazard If 'Yes' use space below to identify and assess any risks
e.g. rivers, marshland, sea.	Examples of risk: drowning, malaria, hepatitis A, parasites. Is the risk high / medium / low?		

CONTROL MEASURES

Indicate which procedures are in place to control the identified risk

lone working on or near water will not be allowed
coastguard information is understood; all work takes place outside those times when tides could prove a threat
all participants are competent swimmers
participants always wear adequate protective equipment, e.g. buoyancy aids, wellingtons

boat is operated by a competent person

all boats are equipped with an alternative means of propulsion e.g. oars

participants have received any appropriate inoculations

OTHER CONTROL MEASURES: please specify any other control measures you have implemented:

MANUAL HANDLING (MH)	Do MH activities take place? If 'No' move to next hazard If 'Yes' use space below to identify and assess any risks
e.g. lifting, carrying, moving large or heavy equipment, physical unsuitability for the task.	Examples of risk: strain, cuts, broken bones. Is the risk high / medium / low?
CONTROL MEASURES	Indicate which procedures are in place to control the identified risk
the departmental the supervisor ha all tasks are withi such activities all persons perfor equipment compo any MH task outs OTHER CONTRO	written Arrangement for MH is followed s attended a MH risk assessment course n reasonable limits, persons physically unsuited to the MH task are prohibited from ming MH tasks are adequately trained onents will be assembled on site ide the competence of staff will be done by contractors DL MEASURES: please specify any other control measures you have implemented:

FIELDWORK

SUBSTANCES	Will participants work with	NO	If 'No' move to next hazard If 'Yes' use space below to identify and assess any	
	substances	L	risks	
e.g. plants, chemical, biohazard, waste	Examples of risk: ill h high / medium / low?	nealth - po	isoning, infection, illness, burns, cuts. Is the risk	
CONTROL Indicate which procedures are in place to control the identified risk MEASURES				
the departmental written Arrangements for dealing with hazardous substances and waste are followed				
all participants are given information, training and protective equipment for hazardous substances they may encounter				
participants who h their needs	have allergies have adv	vised the	leader of this and carry sufficient medication for	
waste is disposed	waste is disposed of in a responsible manner			
a subtraction and a base of the second secon	a second second state of from the second			

suitable containers are provided for hazardous waste

OTHER CONTROL MEASURES: please specify any other control measures you have implemented:

OTHER HAZARDS	Have you identified	YES	If 'No' move to next section
	any other		If 'Yes' use space below to identify and assess
	hazards?		any
			risks
<i>i.e. any other hazards must be noted and</i>	Hazard:	Pandemic	
assessed here.	Risk: is the risk	HIGH	
	Give details of	control meas	ures in place to control the identified risks

MEASURES

Since March 2020 Covid-19 has caused a global pandemic. The world has experienced a lockdown and this has significantly affected everyone's life. This has had a huge impact on my work, studies and life in general. In respect to my dissertation which is on Public transport, this will have an impact on how I conduct surveys and sources of information that I will be using

NO

Have you identified any risks that are not adequately controlled?

Move to Declaration YES X Use space below to identify the risk and what action was taken

Is this project subject to the UCL requirements on the ethics of Non-NHS Human Research?	no		
If yes, please state your Project ID Number			
For more information, please refer to: http://ethics.grad.ucl.ac.uk/			

DECLARATION Select the approp	The work will be reassessed whenever there is a significant change and at least annually. Those participating in the work have read the assessment. riate statement:
x I the undersigned significant residua risk	have assessed the activity and associated risks and declare that there is no I
X I the undersigned controlled by the method(s) liste	have assessed the activity and associated risks and declare that the risk will be ed above
NAME OF SUPERVIS	OR Tim Pharoah
FIELDWORK 5	September 2020